
  

v1 2021 

AGENDA  
Meeting: Housing Committee 

Date: Tuesday 19 October 2021 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's Walk, 
London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found on our website at 
www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees. 

Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live on 
www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/youtube and  
www.london.gov.uk/media-centre/london-assembly where you can also view past meetings. 

Members of the Committee 

Siân Berry AM (Chair) 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman) 

Elly Baker AM 

Andrew Boff AM 

Léonie Cooper AM 

Sem Moema AM 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 
listed below.  

Proper Officer: Mary Harpley, Chief Officer 

 Monday 11 October 2021 

Further Information 

If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Diane Richards, Committee Officer; Telephone: 07925 353478;                
Email: diane.richards@london.gov.uk. For media enquiries please contact: Funmi Olutoye,  
External Communications Officer; Telephone: 07849 308317; Email: funmi.olutoye@london.gov.uk. If 
you have any questions about individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end 
of the report.  

This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda. The meeting will comply with applicable Government guidance and Regulations 
in relation to Covid-19. It is suggested that any member of the press or public wishing to attend the 
meeting in-person contacts the clerk (listed above) in advance. A guide for the press and public on 
attending and reporting meetings of local government bodies, including the use of film, photography, 
social media and other means is available online at Openness in Meetings.pdf. There is access for 
disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground parking for orange 
and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  Please contact 
Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or further 
information. 

www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees
www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/youtube
www.london.gov.uk/media-centre/london-assembly
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 

Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

 

3 

Agenda 

Housing Committee 

Tuesday 19 October 2021 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements   

To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4)  

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Diane Richards, diane.richards@london.gov.uk, 07925 353 478  

The Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring 

Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary action taken by 

the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 42)  

The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 20 July 2021 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 43 - 66)  

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Diane Richards, diane.richards@london.gov.uk, 07925 353478  

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from its previous meetings and the additional correspondence sent and 

received. 

mailto:diane.richards@london.gov.uk
mailto:diane.richards@london.gov.uk


 

 

4 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 67 - 80)  

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Diane Richards, diane.richards@london.gov.uk, 07925 353478  

The Committee is recommended to note the recent action taken by the Chair of the 

Housing Committee under delegated authority, following consultation with party 

Group Lead Members, namely to agree the letters on retrofitting London’s housing 

stock to the Mayor and the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 

Communities, as attached at Appendices 1 and 2. 

6 Affordable Housing Delivery in London (Pages 81 - 84)  

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Stephanie Griffiths, stephanie.griffiths@london.gov.uk, 07783 805834 

The Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to invited guests and the 

subsequent discussion; and 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree any output from the discussion. 

7 Housing Committee Work Programme (Pages 85 - 88)  

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Stephanie Griffiths, stephanie.griffiths@london.gov.uk, 07783 805834 

The Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Note its work programme, and the additional activity undertaken since its last 

meeting, namely the informal meeting with the Deputy Mayor for Housing and 

Residential Development; and 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree the Committee’s letters to the Chair of the Justice 

Committee and to the Mayor in regards to housing for women leaving prison 

including the analysis of responses from London Local Authorities. 

8 Date of Next Meeting   

The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday 24 November 2021 at 

10.00 am in the Chamber, City Hall. 

9 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent   

mailto:diane.richards@london.gov.uk
mailto:stephanie.griffiths@london.gov.uk
mailto:tephanie.griffiths@london.gov.uk


  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

V2/2021 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 

Report to: Housing Committee 

Report of:   Executive Director of Secretariat 

Date: 19 October 2021 

Public 
Access: 

This report will be considered in public 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

3. Issues for Consideration 

3.1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a 

Member from participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a 

meeting of the Assembly, where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that 

particular matter. The effect of this is that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must 

be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor 

of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be precluded from participating in an Assembly 

meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the Member’s role / employment as a 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

http://www.london.gov.uk/


councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from participating in a meeting 

where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London Borough X. 

3.2 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table below: 

Assembly Member Interests 

Member Interest 

Marina Ahmad AM  

Shaun Bailey AM  

Elly Baker AM  

Siân Berry AM Member, London Borough of Camden 

Emma Best AM Member, London Borough of Waltham Forest 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities  

(Council of Europe) 

Hina Bokhari AM Member, London Borough of Merton 

Anne Clarke AM Member, London Borough of Barnet 

Léonie Cooper AM Member, London Borough of Wandsworth 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Len Duvall AM  

Peter Fortune AM Member, London Borough of Bromley 

Neil Garratt AM Member, London Borough of Sutton 

Susan Hall AM Member, London Borough of Harrow 

Krupesh Hirani AM Member, London Borough of Brent 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Sem Moema AM Member, London Borough of Hackney 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Zack Polanski AM  

Keith Prince AM  

Nicholas Rogers AM  

Caroline Russell AM Member, London Borough of Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Sakina Sheikh AM Member, London Borough of Lewisham 

 

  

Page 2



3.3 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  

 where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 

or being considered or at  

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the 

Authority’s functions  

 they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 

that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the meeting; 

or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

UNLESS 

 they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with  

section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 

Appendix 5 to the Code). 

3.4 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as 

is knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

3.5 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.6 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.7 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.8 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The gifts 

and hospitality database may be viewed online.  

3.9 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the online database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or 

when the interest becomes apparent.   

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/people/all-gifts-hospitality
https://www.london.gov.uk/people/all-gifts-hospitality


3.10 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

4. Legal Implications 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

5. Financial Implications 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Information 

Contact Officer: Diane Richards, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 07925 353478 

E-mail:  diane.richards@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 4

mailto:diane.richards@london.gov.uk


  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

v1/2021 

MINUTES 
Meeting: Housing Committee 

Date: Tuesday 20 July 2021 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's Walk, 
London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the minutes may be found at:  

www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees 

Present: 

Siân Berry AM (Chair) 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman) 

Elly Baker AM 

Andrew Boff AM 

Anne Clarke AM 

Léonie Cooper AM 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

1.1 The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and expressed thanks to the previous Chair of 

the Committee, former Assembly Member Murad Qureshi, and to all past members of the 

Committee. 

1.2 The Chair highlighted the joint work of the Housing Committee and the Fire, Resilience and 

Emergency Planning Committee on building safety, as reflected in the agenda papers. 

1.3 The Chair noted the reply from Eddie Hughes MP, Minister for Rough Sleeping and Housing, 

to the Committee’s recent letter to the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government in regards to bringing forward the abolishment of section 21 evictions.  This letter 

would come to the next meeting of the Committee for formal noting. 

1.4 Today’s business would be about one of the most important issues facing London, how cities 

will tackle the climate emergency.  With London’s homes responsible for one third of our 

greenhouse gasses, the Chair explained it was important for the Housing Committee to 

consider how housing providers and the housing industry could tackle this issue.  

1.5 Apologies for absence were received from Sem Moema AM, for whom Anne Clarke AM 

attended as a substitute. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/
http://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees


Greater London Authority 

Housing Committee 

Tuesday 20 July 2021 

 

2 Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

2.2 Siân Berry AM and Anne Clarke AM drew attention to their interests in the report as Members 

of the London Borough of Camden in respect of agenda item 9, and in the context of the 

invited guest from that Borough, although this did not preclude them from participating in the 

discussion. 

2.3 Resolved: 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

3 Membership of the Committee (Item 3) 

3.1 Resolved: 

That the membership and chairing arrangements for the Housing Committee, as 

agreed by the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 14 May 2021, be noted: 

Siân Berry AM (Chair) 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman) 

Elly Baker AM 

Andrew Boff AM 

Léonie Cooper AM 

Sem Moema AM 

4 Terms of Reference (Item 4) 

4.1 Resolved: 

That the Committee’s terms of reference, as agreed by the London Assembly at its 

Annual Meeting on 14 May 2021, be noted:  

To examine and report on matters relating to housing in London and to lead on 

scrutiny of the Mayor’s Housing Strategy.  

Lead responsibility for scrutiny of:  

Homes for Londoners Board; GLA Land and Property Company; Homes for Londoners 

Board (HfL); Barking Riverside Limited; Greenwich Peninsula Strategic Board. 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 

Housing Committee 

Tuesday 20 July 2021 

 

5 Standing Delegations (Item 5) 

5.1 Resolved: 

That the following standing delegations to the Chair of the Committee be noted: 

(a) At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a 

general authority to Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to 

respond on the relevant committee or sub-committee’s behalf, following 

consultation with the lead Members of the party Groups on the committee or 

sub-committee, where it is consulted on issues by organisations and there is 

insufficient time to consider the consultation at a committee meeting. 

(b) At the Plenary Meeting on 6 June 2019, the Assembly agreed to delegate 

authority to Chairs of ordinary committees, sub-committees and working 

groups to agree, in consultation with the relevant party Group Lead Members 

and Deputy Chairs: 

(i) The detailed terms of reference for any investigation to be undertaken 

by the relevant committee, sub-committee or working group within its 

work programme as agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee, and any 

related project plans and arrangements for related site visits or informal 

meetings; and 

(ii) The topic and scope for any additional projects to be added to its work 

programme, where it is not practicable to secure prior approval from the 

GLA Oversight Committee and subject also to subsequent ratification by 

the GLA Oversight Committee. 

6 Minutes (Item 6) 

6.1 Resolved: 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2021 be signed by the Chair as a 

correct record. 

7 Summary List of Actions (Item 7) 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

7.2 Resolved: 

That the completed, outstanding and closed actions arising from previous meetings 

of the Committee, and the additional correspondence sent and received, be noted. 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 

Housing Committee 

Tuesday 20 July 2021 

 

8 Mayor's Response to 5 Steps to Build on 'Everyone In' in London Report 
(Item 8) 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

8.2 Resolved: 

That the response from the Mayor of London to the Housing Committee’s  

5 Steps to Build on ‘Everyone In’ in London report be noted. 

9 Decarbonising London's Homes: The Challenge of Retrofitting (Item 9) 

9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on decarbonising London’s Homes and the challenge of retrofitting to the 

following invited guests: 

 Shirley Rodrigues, Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy; 

 James Hardy, Head of Energy, Greater London Authority (GLA); 

 Councillor Adam Harrison, Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden,  

London Borough of Camden; 

 Susan French, Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and  

Vice Chair of the g320; and  

 Bradley Tully, Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 

(RICS). 

9.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

9.3 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy agreed to 

provide the following additional information:  

 Details of the current retrofitting programmes planned for the current Mayoral term and 

an assessment of the total number of homes within the programmes to be retrofitted; 

 Details of how the figures for the Innovation Partnership of a £10 billion market and 

150,000 jobs were derived; 

 Whether any funding for retrofitting could be sought from within the unallocated grant 

from the Affordable Homes Programme; and 

 An update on the progress made against the Retrofit Accelerator aims. 

9.4 The Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320 agreed to 

provide more detail on the 20 steps required to apply for the Green Homes grants. 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 

Housing Committee 

Tuesday 20 July 2021 

 

9.5 The Senior Public Affairs Officer, RICS agreed to provide: 

 More details on the potential impact of rent control measures on the ability of private 

landlords to fund retrofitting; 

 A rough estimate from RICS in regards to the skills gap, training and number of jobs 

required to be created; and 

 The RICS Low Carbon Consumer Guide and further information about RICS guidance in 

terms of planning decisions and rules for retrofitting in conservation areas. 

9.6 Resolved:  

(a) That the report and subsequent discussion be noted; and 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output from the discussion.  

10 Housing Committee Work Programme (Item 10) 

10.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

10.2 Resolved: 

(a) That the work programme and additional activity undertaken since its last 

meeting, namely the informal briefing with the Women Leaving Prison 

initiative and the Committee’s survey on housing during the pandemic, be 

noted; and 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair of the Committee, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members, to agree the Affordable Housing Monitor for 

publication. 

11 Date of Next Meeting (Item 11) 

11.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Tuesday, 19 October 2021 at 10.00 am 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 

12 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 12) 

12.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

13 Close of Meeting 

13.1 The meeting ended at 12.07 pm. 

Page 9



Greater London Authority 

Housing Committee 

Tuesday 20 July 2021 

 

 

 

 

Chair 

 

Date 

 

Contact Officer: Diane Richards, Committee Officer; Telephone: 07925 353478;  
Email: diane.richards@london.gov.uk 

Page 10



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Housing Committee – Tuesday 20 July 2021 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 9: Decarbonising London's Homes: The Challenge of 
Retrofitting 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair): Can I welcome today our guests and thank them for joining us today.  We have 

Shirley Rodrigues, Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy, Susan French, Chief Executive of Barnsbury 

Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320 group of small and medium housing associations.  We have 

Councillor Adam Harrison, Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden in the London Borough of Camden and 

Bradley Tully, Senior Public Affairs Officer from the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.  Thank you for 

being here.  Then remotely we have James Hardy, Head of Energy for the Greater London Authority (GLA). 

 

Shirley [Rodrigues], my questions to begin with are the absolute basics of what is a zero-carbon home, how 

much does it cost?  How do you define a carbon-neutral home when it comes to homes that already exist and 

refitting them?  Is this based on achieving a specific Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating?  Is that 

different as a standard from what happens with new homes? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Thank you for inviting me to talk 

about this really important topic.  It is critical that every sector takes action on climate change, reducing our 

greenhouse gas emissions. Housing, as Assembly Member Berry mentioned, is responsible for about a third of 

London’s emissions.  Therefore a huge sector but a really difficult one.  I am sure you will hear that from 

everybody, including myself and James [Hardy]about how difficult it is to tackle that area. 

 

In terms of what do we mean by a carbon-neutral home, what we try to do is reduce as much as possible the 

energy demand from the home.  That is through things like insulation.  But then also trying to make sure that 

the energy used in the home is as zero-carbon as possible, ideally through renewable energy, but increasingly 

our grid is being decarbonised.  It is one of the success stories that we have.  Eventually we would hope that is 

fully decarbonised.  Then that nets off both areas and that gives you the zero-carbon home.  Ideally what we 

would like is that the home produces more energy than it uses so that it helps others to offset their energy 

production or greenhouse gas production. 

 

In terms of EPC, they are not the same, because EPCs, if you buy a home or even rent now, they are really just 

about how much it costs in terms of running the home.  It is not really a good measure of the impact it has on 

carbon or much on energy performance.  There are other newer approaches that would be better as a carbon 

metric or generally about the house or building performance. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Is that different for a new home than it is for an existing home, if you are talking 

about carbon-neutral standards?  It must be very hard to get a home that already exists down to true zero. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes.  In the London Plan we have a 

series of actions that we seek developers to use and there is a hierarchy that they go through.  Ultimately, 

there is a mechanism to offset any emissions through financial payment, anything they cannot minimise 

through use of renewable energy, heat pumps and so on, or through the fabric, the building insulation. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  They get down as low as they can and they also make a payment for anything that is 

left? 

Page 11



 

 
 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  At the moment, yes.  But ideally over 

time we are going to be getting much better methods of construction and retrofitting, which then we would 

hope would mean there is no need for an offsetting payment.  But Bradley [Tully] is better qualified to be able 

to give you more information about that. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Not to worry.  Can we ask you though what analysis you have been doing of the 

scale of need in London?  We have 3.5 million homes approximately, most of which already exist.  They need 

some form of retrofitting to achieve the Mayor’s carbon goals.  What is the need in terms of the number of 

homes needed to treat and the amount of work involved? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  To get to our climate targets, whether 

it is 2050, the United Kingdom (UK) Government’s new target, or the Mayor’s, pretty much every home is 

going to need to have some form of retrofitting.  The social housing sector, there are 750,000 homes that 

need to be retrofitted.  We have done an analysis, the London Building Stock Model that looks at the EPC 

ratings to give us a proxy of how poor or well they are doing on energy efficiency.  We have a really 

complicated system in London of housing tenure.  Lots of flats, solid walls, conservation areas, all of these 

things make it really difficult to crack the retrofitting of our homes and to make them more fuel-efficient, let 

alone zero-carbon. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  You said all of the homes need to be treated.  That is 3.5 million homes need 

something doing. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes, and they will need different 

things.  Some will need a massively intensive approach, a whole house retrofit, which is some of the things that 

we have been working on through our accelerators.  Others that have been more newly-built that have been 

following, for example, London Plan standards will have less of an issue.  They are pretty efficient at the 

moment.  But over time, if we are really going to get as much out of all of our homes to contribute to that 

target, then there may be things that they need to do as well. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Have you done any analysis of the cost of all of this at a London level? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  At a high level.  When we did the 

1.5ºC [Compatible Climate] Action Plan, the Paris compliant action plan, we estimated that to get to that plan 

it would need £61 billion worth of spend to tackle our infrastructure.  That is not all on homes, but it is mostly 

on homes or the related infrastructure.  It is things like insulation, heat pumps, boilers, some of the energy 

infrastructure that would be needed as well.  There is a little bit in there about the transport infrastructure. 

 

But these numbers vary a lot because it depends on what people take into account in terms of measures, how 

difficult it is to treat the homes.  That is an estimate.  We have seen other estimates across the UK of 

£500 billion, lots of cost.  That is really what we are trying to do now is to get a better assessment of what is 

needed.  We have been funding, for example, some work with London Councils to look at their social housing 

stock to see what that might cost to get to a better energy efficiency rating and zero-carbon.  We are updating 

our modelling for the 1.5ºC Plan to look at what impact that has in terms of the pace and scale of change that 

we need and also some costs.  We have been talking to organisations like the Green Finance Institute and 

others about the financial mechanisms that we are going to have to bring to play. 

 

Page 12



 

 
 

While there is some Government grant to help with this, and I am sure we will come on to talk about that, the 

scale of the order of sums that we need means that we are looking at the private sector finance flows that we 

need to be moving, along with lots of other things around transportation and a lot of the other resilience of 

our infrastructure that we also need to look at in terms of overheating or flash-flooding. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Just to reiterate, you have an estimate of £61 billion for London over a timescale of 

less than 10 years now? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  No, that would be for the 2050 target.  

That would be probably 20 years.  But what we are doing is updating that modelling. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Yes, because the Mayor’s target is now 2030.  But presumably it will be roughly the 

same amount in order of magnitude but over a much shorter time period. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Given the time period is contracted, it 

may be more expensive because you are trying to do more, quicker.  But we have new technologies that are 

coming on all the time.  We still have a lot of technologies like heat pumps that have not really been trialled at 

scale.  It is a bit like some of the conversations we will have about the Innovation Partnership.  The cost of 

retrofitting a home very simply is something like £50,000.  But if you were to do a whole house deep retrofit it 

is much more expensive, probably double if not more.  But if you do these things at scale then you can bring 

the cost down and that is what we are trying to do through that mechanism. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  We will talk more about your initiatives later.  But in very broad terms, what goals 

has the Mayor set in his new manifesto for how much retrofitting will get done during this mayoral term, which 

we know is only three years rather than the usual four? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We have programmed targets for the 

things like the accelerators that we have set up.  There is an overall target, which we are updating for the new 

2030 target in terms of our 1.5ºC [Compatible Climate Action] Plan.  There is an aspiration for all homes to be 

retrofitted but that really is subject to powers, funding, supply chain, and of course the difficulties of working 

in London in terms of the stock that we have.  There are so many different tenures and types of stock, they all 

need pretty much an individual plan for how you would treat them and a costing.  Then how do you mobilise 

around those. All of that needs an assessment.  I cannot give you a target. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  No, that is what this whole meeting is about.  But do you have an assessment of 

what is currently in train within the current programmes, just the broad total of homes you might treat? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I do not have a total but I can certainly 

send you the detail.  But, for example, our retrofit accelerator on homes is looking to do 1,678 homes to be 

supported by mid-2022.  Our Warmer Homes Programme, which is giving grants to low-income households for 

energy efficiency measures, we have already supported 1,157.  We are looking to support another 1,188 during 

the second phase, which ends this year.  Those are two. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  We will obviously ask more detail about those programmes.  Just in broad terms 

then, we have millions of homes that need to be treated and so far under the current abilities that we have to 

raise money we are doing ones of thousands.  This is the difference that we just want to get across at the 

beginning of this meeting.   

 

Page 13



 

 
 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is absolutely a challenge that the UK 

faces.  This is not just a London issue.  This is why the advocacy that we, UK100, local authorities, London 

Councils, the Local Government Association (LGA), and obviously the private sector, are really pressing for 

some long-term certainty from Government about the policies and the programmes to meet those targets.  For 

their own target, the UK’s target, let alone any accelerated targets that we and other local authorities have set.  

It is a massive challenge, but we have done these things before and it is just trying to put these frameworks in 

place to get that concerted and collaborative effort.  Some of the things that we have been doing that we 

talked about are collaborative programmes with, for example, London Councils, with the private sector, to try 

to get this push that we need across the country. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Susan [French], can we stick to broad targets and numbers for the moment? 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  Just 

going to the other end of the scale, I run a very small housing association and we have been doing quite a lot 

of work on this, just in terms of cost.  We are working to a target of getting all of our homes an EPC of C by 

2030.  The Government is currently consulting about bringing that date forward to 2028.  Currently we have 

done EPC almost across all of our stock just to establish our starting point and we know that about 60% of our 

homes are going to need work to bring them up to even EPC-C, which is a long way below net zero. 

 

We have been working with some building energy efficiency specialists and we have built into our business 

plan £25,000 per property on average to bring homes up to that target, which is just for our small organisation, 

£7.5 million. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  That is really useful, just to bring that down to the grass roots level.  Then, 

Adam [Harrison], I believe that Camden has done a broad estimate of the retrofitting needs of the borough.  Is 

that right?  At a borough level what are we talking about? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

In Camden, we have around 100,000 homes, about a third of which are directly owned and managed by the 

council.  In terms of the work that we think we need to do to retrofit our own stock, depending on how far you 

go and how quickly the grid decarbonises, that could cost up to around £750 million.  But we are also currently 

in the process of understanding how much it would cost to retrofit the entire stock within the borough.  That is 

still a work in progress, but it is looking closer to the £750 million mark.  That is with quite a deep retrofit. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  That is just for the council-owned buildings.  Does that include the leaseholds? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

Yes. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  That is £750 million in one borough.  Thank you very much, Adam.  Elly [Baker AM] 

wants to come in with some supplementary questions. 

 

Elly Baker AM:  Shirley, you talked about the target dates a bit, but just to clarify, the national target for net 

zero homes is 2050 but the Mayor has set the ambition for London to be a zero carbon city by 2030.  Can you 

confirm that the target date for homes in London is still 2050 and just briefly explain the difference between 

the targets? 

 

Page 14



 

 
 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The net zero carbon target that the 

Government has set is 2050 and it has brought that forward in terms of 78% emissions reductions by 2035.  

That comprises lots of different sectors, transport, housing, etc.  Similarly, the Mayor has set a target for 

London to be a net zero carbon city by 2030.  Again, within that, we have housing, transportation, workplaces 

and so on.  Housing is about a third of those emissions and we want all of our emissions to be net zero by 

2030.  But that is going to involve some level of offsetting because you cannot get to net zero completely, 

whether it is UK or London.  Because of things like shipping and aviation and so on.  Therefore there will be an 

element of offsetting.  But within that we are trying to bring down all of those emissions to net zero as fast as 

possible. 

 

Elly Baker AM:  Thank you.  You mentioned that EPCs are not necessarily the best measure.  The Mayor has 

said that building renovation passports could be a better measure.  Can you explain what those are and why 

you believe they are better? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes.  Lots of people are talking about 

them because they act as a logbook for your building, your house, or in fact any building.  It sets out in much 

more detail a whole host of issues about the building performance, not just the cost of running it, but its 

carbon performance.  It can look at air pollution, the air quality of it.  It also then acts as a way of logging any 

renovations that you may have done.  But also crucially it sets out a pathway to get to net zero and gives you a 

way of then ticking those off and recording that. 

 

It also acts as a way of building the market.  It acts as a way for installers or financiers; therefore mortgage 

lenders can use it to assess the risks of the mortgage lending on it.  You have installers looking at if you have a 

quantum of these you can understand what the market might be and then that might lower costs.  It is really 

useful for a whole host of industries, but also a way of ramping up the retrofit of a building.  Then of course 

when you move or when you sell that goes on to the next occupant who can then see what the history of the 

house is. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  I wanted to know whether or not the affordable housing programme that we have at the 

moment is building homes that are satisfactory in terms of climate change and our target net zero. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  No affordable housing programme 

across the country does that.  [Councillor] Adam [Harrison] maybe you can comment on it a bit more.  But they 

are working to things like the Decent Homes Standard, which I believe there is a consultation on at the 

moment.  That does not mandate, for example, net zero.  It has not caught up with the sort of approach that 

we take to the London Plan in London.  Those are the things that we would want to be reflected better so that 

the whole country is building housing that is really fit for a whole host of things, including helping to mitigate 

climate change.  Also, increasingly, being resilient to the impacts of climate change that we are seeing at the 

moment. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Therefore, new homes that are being built at the moment are not compliant and will have 

to be retrofitted; is this what you are saying? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  No, new homes, the London Plan 

homes, if they are being built according to the London Plan, yes.  But they also apply a Decent Homes 

Standard.  This is slightly out of my ... 

 

Page 15



 

 
 

Andrew Boff AM:  Sorry, just to be clear, you are saying if they are built to London Plan standards then they 

will be compliant? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  They should be compliant.  They will 

get as close to net zero as possible.  But, as I mentioned, if they do not there is an offset mechanism as well. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Are you quite confident that those homes, we will not have to revisit what is being built at 

the moment and then retrofit those? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  No, I would not say that, because 

there is a little bit that they cannot quite get because our technologies are not quite there or the development, 

we tried to maximise as much as possible the energy efficiency and their contribution to net zero, but it is 

never quite 100%.  Those homes are better than the ones that we have already, but they are not perfect and 

they will at some point need to be retrofitted ... 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Bearing in mind the Mayor himself has declared a climate emergency, why are we not 

attending to what we are building now? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The Mayor is already building better 

standards than the Government requires.  We have standards in the London Plan that go far beyond what the 

Government is mandating and we are securing, for example, carbon savings in the order of 41% more than 

building regulations.  We have been advocating to Government to reinstate the zero-carbon homes standard 

that they abandoned several years ago and follow the London Plan.  If they did that, we would be getting a 

much better carbon greenhouse gas emissions reduction performance than we are getting at the moment 

through Government policy.  We really want to see that change.  This is a huge opportunity through the 

planning network, the planning frameworks, through what we do through affordable housing, through our 

transport networks, to take action on climate change. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  I am still a little confused.  The new affordable housing programme for 2021 to 2026, the 

houses that we are building there, at some point we will have to revisit.  Is this what you are saying? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I am saying they are as zero-carbon as 

we can get them, they are as close to zero-carbon as they can get them, if they are following the London Plan.  

But all buildings, whether they are built in London or beyond, do not hit zero-carbon exactly because there are 

still things that need to be done.  They will need to be retrofitted ... 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  What are those things that need to be done?  Is it needing more money?  The things that 

need to be done to make them zero-carbon. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is probably a combination of 

technology.  I do not know, James, if you know, you can jump in here and maybe help out. 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  Yes, of course, what you are saying is 

absolutely right.  Sometimes it is not economically feasible or possible within delivery timescales for developers 

to achieve zero on site.  As Shirley said, what the Mayor has done is brought forward what would have been a 

zero-carbon standard that the UK Government was going to introduce back in 2016 and then subsequently 

pulled.  Effectively, we have gone well above and beyond what would have been the ambitious national target.  

But it is still sometimes uneconomic and unfeasible technically for some developers to achieve net zero on site.  

Page 16



 

 
 

Therefore, we have an offsetting mechanism, which means that the level of carbon emissions that they cannot 

achieve on site is monetised and that money goes into local retrofitting schemes.  The aggregate is always the 

same amount of carbon that one would achieve if they could do it on site but it is delivered elsewhere through 

other means. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Thank you. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you.  I was going to try to bring you back from impinging on planning issues, 

but it is a good point if there is going to be works to be done on new homes that then become existing homes 

in need of work.  Moving on now to the next section, about the Mayor’s initiatives.  For that we have the 

Deputy Chairman of the Committee, congratulations to you on that, Assembly Member Devenish. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you, Chair.  Good morning, Deputy Mayor.  Could we turn 

to the Innovation Partnership please?  Could you start by saying what it is for the viewers on the webcast?  

What is the current status of the bidding process as well please? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I talked a little bit earlier about the 

approach that we are going to need in London and elsewhere to really ramp up the efficiency of our homes 

and to go into the deep house retrofit that we need now.  In the past, we have done insulation measures, 

which have been really about glazing or a little bit of insulation, nothing really significant.  That has helped 

reduce carbon, but it is not the order of magnitude that we need to reach net zero.  This deep house retrofit is 

really taking a whole building approach and it needs a lot more collaboration between those that have the 

problem, that own the problem in terms of whether it is owner occupiers or housing associations or local 

authorities who have the stock.  Or the building companies, that can help come up with the solutions.  There 

has been quite a piecemeal approach across London. 

 

What we decided to do in London was to try to bring those actors together to really target a way of ramping 

up the retrofit approach that we have in London.  The Innovation Partnership was procured, we started in 2020 

talking to people about how we might bring people together and what sort of approach might help facilitate 

boroughs, housing associations and those developers, coming together to look for stages of deep retrofit.  

Things like assessing, to look at Camden, what is the housing stock, what sort of delivery plan would they 

need, what financing they might need as well.  What do their residents want out of this deep retrofit and what 

are their concerns.  Then they can come up with a plan for action. 

 

Then it would be working with a select number of builders off a framework to develop a prototype approach to 

that.  Then thinking about how any technical problems might be solved.  These are new approaches, deep 

retrofit.  You might have seen the initiative in the Netherlands called Energiesprong, which is for zero-carbon 

homes, Energy Leap.  Because of, as I mentioned already, the type of housing that we have, we will need 

different approaches.  You are going to have to have different approaches for flats, to flats in conservation 

areas, to new builds and so on. 

 

They all come together to prototype an approach, then test and refine it.  It is at that point that you start to 

get the confidence then to scale up.  That scale-up will then bring the price down, then you get that 

commercialisation and delivery.  All along through that, we are also building the supply side, getting people to 

understand these are new approaches, therefore they need new skills.  That is part of a problem that we have 

already with the existing retrofit approach that we are taking. 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

In terms of where we are in the partnership, we announced the partnership had been created earlier this year.  

We have seven London-based housing providers who are agreeing to pilot part of their housing stock in this 

approach.  That is Lambeth, Ealing, Haringey, Barking and Dagenham, Sutton, Enfield, and Hammersmith and 

Fulham.  What we are doing at the moment is finalising the long list of suppliers who will be working with 

them.  I cannot name them just yet because we are just going through the final elements of the procurement 

process, which was an Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) based process.  Anybody familiar with 

that knows that it takes some time to sign off and then get the legal sorted out.  But we made great progress 

and we are looking forward to working with those boroughs and those developers to get started on that 

approach. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  To be clear, you are choosing seven local authorities for the first 

round and then you will appoint a bunch of contractors under those? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The seven have said that they want to 

participate, we have not appointed them.  We would love all 33 boroughs to participate.  This is not just a 

partnership.  We are starting with local authorities because we want to work with those who are really keen to 

get this going.  We then have a list of contractors who then the local authorities will select.  But then, because 

we have gone through the procurement process, they do not have to go through a lengthy procurement 

process, they just match.  We are essentially matchmaking the suppliers and the local authorities to come 

together. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Do you have a date by when the first stage will be completed? 

The appointment of the contractors so that you can get on with the work. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Soon.  James, I do not know if you 

have any more updates, but we are at the very final stages.  The next few months I would have thought.  Less 

possibly. 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  Yes, possibly even earlier. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  How have you assessed the suitability of the firms selected and 

have you looked at the social value as part of the tendering process? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is an OJEU process; therefore they 

go through contract evaluations.   Yes, they have all been assessed for some of the social value aspects, but 

along with financial, due diligence, the normal procurement.  But what we want is the commitment to the net 

zero approach and innovation. 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  Because it is OJEU and because we are quite 

used to doing these, we ensure continuous improvement around them.  The suitability of firms, they are 

selected through quite rigorous compliance objectives.  On social value, that is all integrated in the process 

itself.  We have looked at objectives, key performance indicators (KPIs) and outcomes around things like 

equality, diversity, inclusion.  There is quite a lot in there about strategic labour needs, training.  Ethical 

resourcing is becoming hugely important.  We expect that the evaluation, because we are going through the 

final stages now, will show that many of those suppliers have achieved those KPIs, those objectives, and will be 

able to deliver those outcomes.  Those will be the ones that we appoint. 

 

Page 18



 

 
 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  James, you and Shirley have both mentioned OJEU a couple of times.  Can you very 

briefly explain what that procurement process is and why we are still following it? 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  Over a certain level, which is about 

£180,000, if any public sector organisation is going to procure something, whether that be services or the 

delivery of a programme, they have to open it up to the whole of the European Union.  That is still the case.  

That is to ensure that there is fair competition and that it is not in breach of things like State aid rules.  

Organisations will have their own threshold.  In the GLA, it is usually £150,000.  Anything we procure over 

£150,000, you have to open it up to a very big, almost global market. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Going back to the Deputy Mayor, the Mayor estimates that the 

Innovation Partnership could unlock a £10 billion market and 150,000 jobs.  Senior politicians like to go back 

to big numbers.  How are these figures derived at please? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The £10 billion is the estimate of the 

potential if, not just London local authorities, but local authorities outside of London, participated in bringing 

forward the stock that they have.  For example, we just heard from Susan [French] and from [Councillor] Adam 

[Harrison] about the levels of funding, the estimated levels of stock and the cost of retrofitting that stock.  

That is the sort of potential.  It is based on the maintenance budgets that most local authorities have, 

therefore it is an average. 

 

Similarly, on the homes retrofitted, again it is a quantum that we have estimated, and I am happy to send you a 

note afterwards with the detail. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you.  Could you outline where the funding would come 

from for each of the retrofit [schemes] under the partnership? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It would come from either the local 

authority or the registered social landlord, housing association, through their maintenance budgets.  As we 

have said, these numbers are massive, therefore one of the things that we are talking about is how do we 

collectively look to encourage the private sector to start investing in this area.  One of the things that we have 

been working on is we commissioned the Green Finance Institute who operate out of the City of London to 

advise us on how we come up with some financial mechanisms that would help encourage that flow of finance, 

whether it is from pension funds or from others, into the retrofitting of, not just homes, but lots of 

infrastructure that we need for tackling climate change. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Does none of the money come from the £535 million that 

Mr [Tom] Copley [Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development] still has to allocate of his £5 billion 

housing monies? 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  To clarify, that is the underspend in the current Affordable Housing Grant 

Programme. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  For the first five years. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I am happy to seek 

Deputy Mayor Copley’s advice on that.  I do not know anything about that underspend I am afraid. 

 

Page 19



 

 
 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Is there any money coming from the GLA at all to this funding? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The funding that we have put in is 

through the spending of officer time, we have put funding into creating this partnership.  Just to be clear, the 

Mayor does not have or control housing stock.  Our job, and what we see as a key role, is how do we facilitate 

those that do, housing associations, local authorities and the private sector, to come together to look at the 

challenges and the barriers.  One of the challenges has been the procurement approach.  Another challenge is 

finance.  The other challenge is how do you prototype these new approaches, which is why initiatives like the 

Innovation Partnership are going to help with that. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  Following on from the point about putting money in and making things continue, 

therefore it was about the National Centre for Retrofit Excellence, which I asked the Mayor about in Mayor’s 

Question Time.  I know there is money from the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

(BEIS) of £3.45 million to get that up and running.  How will the project continue its work, which is really 

important in terms of guiding social housing providers through the retrofit process so that they can maximise 

the amount of money that they can claim?  But what is going to happen when that £3.45 million comes to an 

end?  How is it going to continue? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  At the moment it is a proof of 

concept.  We have, through the team, done some excellent work in using our accelerators to help local 

authorities bid and secure funding from the Government programmes, in the order of about £180 million now.  

James [Hardy] can possibly talk about that a little bit later, about how we have done that.  But the approach 

that we have taken and the quality of the retrofits that we have been doing in London in this innovation is 

something that the Government have decided that is something that we want to replicate, not just across 

London, but across the country.  That centre of excellence, and indeed the Innovation Partnership, is not 

confined just to London boroughs because of the work that James and his team and our contractors have been 

doing.  Really good-quality work. 

 

We want to show that this is successful and we will do.  On the basis of that, because this has to be an ongoing 

programme, this is one of the questions that we have been asking Government about,  the approach that we 

are taking, the scale of the challenge we have means that we need to have long-term certainty and clarity 

about policy frameworks, but also funding.  What we will be seeking is more Government support for that 

centre of excellence to keep helping local authorities access the funding programmes they have and also come 

up with new mechanisms for financing them through the private sector. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  We are very keen to see that as a Committee because we are aware that you were talking 

about the quantum being £61 billion, mostly on housing, which is why we are digging into these questions.  

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you.  The Retrofit Accelerator aims to have 1,678 homes 

either fully retrofitted or in the process of being retrofitted or in contract to be retrofitted by August 2022.  

Could you please provide us with an update on the progress or, if you need to, you can write to us. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We can certainly write to you 

afterwards.  I know that there has been some good work and it is on track for meeting those targets. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  I am sure a more detailed response in writing will be fine.  In terms 

of the sense of urgency of these programmes, if you talk to the previous Mayor’s administration, between 

2009 and 2016 the previous Mayor’s ground-breaking new homes retrofit programme delivered energy 

Page 20



 

 
 

efficiency improvements to over 130,000 homes.  The current Mayor’s Retrofit Accelerator programme 

proposes to retrofit just 1,600 by August 2022.  Is that a reason we could be defined as [having] a lack of 

ambition and how will you accelerate much, much quicker? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would not, because, as I mentioned 

before, the number of homes that need to be retrofitted is massive.  But what we need to do is a completely 

different approach to what was taken in the past.  While it was appropriate at the time to start looking at 

insulation and retrofitting, it is not sufficient.  We have to do the deep house, the whole house retrofit.  That is 

why these numbers that we are talking about are very different because this is really a new approach.  The 

Energy Leap, Energiesprong pilot that we are also doing now, is requiring a different way of working from local 

authorities to the builders to financiers.  The smaller numbers are really proof of concepts that we then need to 

demonstrate that can be done across London.  We have come to the close of one programme that is showing it 

has worked.  On the basis of that, we have these extra numbers that we are rolling out in the funding that we 

have from Government. 

 

Once those are proven, then through the Innovation Partnership we then start to see the acceleration and 

scale-up to more than the 130,000 homes that were done in that previous administration.  The order of homes 

that we are talking about is massive, 160,000 homes a year.  Nobody is doing that level of retrofit across the 

country at all, partly because we do not have the policy and funding or the supply chain yet.  Or indeed, while 

we know what needs to happen and we have some approaches in London that we know could work, it is 

getting that scale-up.  That approach is what we are looking at now. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you. You said that the previous Mayor had just basically 

done insulation in homes.  Can you be a bit clearer in terms of what is the step change you are doing?  If he 

did insulation, what are you doing? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The difference is the basic insulation 

that would have happened before, some double-glazing or possibly triple-glazing.  Now what we are looking at 

is things like looking at fabric insulation, so the walls, not just a little bit of insulation here and there.  We are 

looking at renewable energy going in, new energy systems like heat pumps, which will then bring down the 

energy usage and make sure that the energy used is renewable.  As I have said, we are also looking at 

ventilation issues.  Because when you are looking at energy efficiency you still have to make sure that the 

home is well ventilated to support people’s health.  These are much more expensive and much more costly 

approaches.  Things like heat pumps, not really trialled at scale in this country, so those are much more 

expensive kit that we are having to look at. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Finally, as the Climate Change Committee said with their 2050 

target to require the decarbonisation of the entire housing stock in the UK, in less than 30 years are you going 

to be able to do that in London? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We can if we have the policy and the 

funding.  But that means everyone.  That means looking at the supply chain.  We already have a problem in 

London and the country with the funding that the Government has given.  Everybody is now looking at 

retrofitting but that means the supply chain that was there is not able to keep up with the demands that we 

are all putting on it.  To ramp up to the levels that the Government wants, let along what this or other Mayors 

want, needs a massive change and uplift in the supply chain. 

 

Page 21



 

 
 

The story about this retrofit revolution is really this is new jobs, good quality clean jobs that would really help 

with the whole host of issues that we are dealing with in terms of the economic and social impacts of the 

pandemic.  But also, the Green New Deal approach is precisely about how do we get people out of the jobs 

that are polluting into better cleaner jobs.  That supply chain, we are doing some work, working with Jules Pipe 

[CBE Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills] and others on an extension of the construction 

academy approach that we have taken to start to support those green skills and use that as a template for 

Government to roll out across the country. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you very much. You talk about needing a complete step change in the 

industry and I worry.  We have seen a partnership approach like this before in housing and it has always tended 

to favour existing large firms.  If you need to have a whole new approach and new companies coming through 

to do this work, is the big OJEU process that favours large companies doing big partnerships across seven 

boroughs, is that approach going to mitigate against maybe what are smaller firms now, but ought to be the 

bigger firms of the future?  Is it not going to entrench the industry using that kind of approach? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I can see that is a risk.  James [Hardy] 

can probably talk about this a bit more, but we would expect their supply chain is smaller firms.  It is a bit like 

the Mayor’s procurement of buses.  When he went up to Yorkshire, there are big bus companies there, but 

their supply chain is even further around the rest of the country and those are the small firms that would then 

benefit from this approach.  Through our procurement approaches we are seeking to make sure that the supply 

chains are also attuned and aligned to the net zero ambition.  Therefore, we would expect the major suppliers 

to be looking at that as well.  But it is something that we want to make sure that, as we are looking at the skills 

approach, those smaller companies also get access to those so that they can compete in those bigger markets 

as well. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Just not with your chosen partnership? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I do not know, because I do not know 

who they are and we are not allowed to say who they are. James, I do not know if you can say how smaller 

firms are going to be looked at? 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  There is a large parallel set of activity 

happening as the procurement progresses.  We need to create a supply chain that has large and small players 

who all deliver quality retrofit solutions.  Skilled installers are really in short supply at the moment, especially 

accredited ones.  In parallel with the procurement, we have been engaging with a whole range of small to 

medium-size local firms who would, in the future, hopefully be able to subcontract with the larger firms that 

we are procuring.  The idea is being able to create a web of support.  This has happened over the last couple of 

months, but it has included supply chain research, engagement, including contacting about 60 to 70 individual 

companies.  We have had about 30 or 40 meetings to try to facilitate introductions.  We plan to do and share a 

lot of case studies to facilitate networking once the bigger firms are procured and identify how they can link 

together. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  The Mayor’s manifesto said that he was going to be lobbying Government for funds for 

retrofitting homes in London.  How much money is the Mayor going to be seeking - I presume he is not 

expecting a budget of £61 billion - beyond the rather paltry level of Government funding that is currently 

available?  I think it was delayed and there has been £60 million on the table from a retrofit programme.  How 

much of that have we managed to get hold of? 

 

Page 22



 

 
 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The Government has not set out 

completely its plans for funding and we are developing our case for the Comprehensive Spending Review that 

will be coming up later this year.  But of the money that has been released, what we are trying to make sure is 

that we access London’s proportionate share of that, whether it is the Government funding programmes they 

have or the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) as well. 

 

In terms of the funding that we have managed to secure, it is not too far out of being in line with a 

proportionate share at the moment.  But in terms of the scale of need that we have talked about we are going 

to need that ramped up.  That cannot just come from local authorities, it has to come from the private sector 

as well as Government grants.  Therefore we would hope that the Government’s commitment of a £9 billion 

fund was at least kept, but we need much more than that as we have seen the huge numbers that 

Susan [French] and [Councillor] Adam [Harrison] and I have been talking about.  How do we get more of that? 

 

In terms of ECO funding, we do not get our fair share, therefore we have been lobbying very hard to get a 

greater share.  We get probably about 40% or 50% of what Londoners spend in terms of their fuel bills and the 

ECO obligation on that coming back to London.  We would like to have 100% of that. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  That has been an ongoing problem for ages, mainly because the energy companies find 

it so much easier to work in places where there are no controlled parking zones or all the other expenses 

associated with trying to deliver programmes in London. Moving on to the issues around mandatory minimum 

energy efficiency standards, which is a huge issue in the private sector.  The Environment Committee, as I am 

sure you are aware, suggested that the Government should increase the cap for landlord contributions to those 

measures from £3,500 to £5,000.  Because obviously a lot of landlords make a lot of money, particularly in 

London, from renting out, therefore £5,000 seems a fairly insignificant figure.  What discussions have been had 

with Government about this and how important is it that we achieve this for those who are privately renting in 

London particularly? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is hugely important.  We supported 

that higher level of cap as well.  We have been raising this with Government in various consultation responses.  

They have got a new consultation out where they are talking about raising the level up to £10,000, which 

would be a much better reflection of certainly the costs to landlords and the costs in London. We are 

advocating that is picked up. Because it would have such a big impact on fuel poverty and on carbon 

emissions. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  I presume that the Mayor will be supporting the raising of the cap to £10,000.  It seems 

a bit odd to have refused to have raised it from £3,500 to £5,000 and then suddenly to jump to £10,000.  I 

would personally have preferred it to have stepped up, but maybe that is something, Chair, we can consider 

writing to Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and supporting because it 

seems like a really important area. 

 

Moving onto, the Green Homes Grant Scheme, you were talking about ECO and we only got a small fraction of 

the share that we should have had from the energy companies of that.  The Green Homes Grant Scheme does 

not really seem to be much of a success in London.  I understand that there were only 1,699 grants given out, 

and two in Westminster being the lowest, and 141 in Newham being about the highest.  What went wrong with 

the scheme and is there anything that we can learn that would allow schemes to work better?  That seems a 

complete failure. 

 

Page 23



 

 
 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It was a very complicated scheme to 

operate.  There were not enough suppliers for it.  As you have alluded to, where it is easier and cheaper to 

operate that is where suppliers will go.  It is complicated to work in London and big cities.  That is why.  I tried 

to have a look at it as well and it was very complicated to find somebody.  There were also difficulties for 

suppliers in registering and trying to access the databases to be on the supply list.  One of the big lessons is 

allowing these schemes time to bed in.  It was not great, but the scheme was pulled before it could really bed 

in and the changes that we and the industry were asking for to be incorporated could have been incorporated.  

That stop/start approach is what causes problems for installers. 

 

It also puts householders off because those who might be interested then just get put off for another few 

years and thinking it is not worth the bother.  What we want is a scheme that is really simple to use, that really 

is user-friendly, that allows the installers, good high-quality accredited installers, to sign up, then lots of them 

across London.  Also, maybe a premium for working in a city so that those in cities are not disadvantaged and 

people favour other ... 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  Some very wise points there, because we went through all of that with the feed-in tariff 

and lots of people going through Microgeneration Certification Scheme (MCS) accreditation and then all going 

bust when the scheme is massively downgraded and destroyed.  Can I ask about the Decent Homes Standard?  

My understanding is there is a review going on.  It played its role in the early-2000s because of thermal 

comfort and everyone fitting Thermostatic Radiator Valves (TRV) on radiators and all that sort of thing.  It has 

had some impact indeed on fuel poverty as well.  In terms of the decarbonisation and improving energy 

efficiency of social homes, what changes would you like to see in the Decent Homes Standard as part of the 

review?  Will you be submitting something to Government? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes, definitely.  To keep it simple, it 

would be to mandate a net zero approach, but also one that takes into account climate adaptation too.  

Because the homes have to be resilient but also maximise their energy efficiency as far as possible so that it 

can contribute to the net zero target. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  Improving the section on weatherproofing for example to really move towards mitigation 

and adaptation as well. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  The Government was planning to publish a Heat and Buildings Strategy, which was 

going to set out its approach to reducing emissions from buildings.  That was due last year.  They seem to have 

been distracted by, I do not know, there was something going on last year I have heard.  Now it has been 

delayed.  It may also have been delayed because of some Cabinet arguments over what funding could be 

associated with this new strategy.  It is difficult for us in the absence of that strategy to go ahead, but what 

plans should we be making in London in terms of retrofitting?  Otherwise we have no chance of hitting the 

zero-carbon by the 2050 target that the Mayor is keen for us to achieve, have we?  What can we do? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We are doing what we can.  The 

approach that we are doing at the moment, the Innovation Partnership, the move to deep and whole house 

retrofits, is exactly what is going to be needed.  We know that the Government is going to have to come in line 

with this because there is not really another way to meet those targets.  Our approach of piloting and doing 

the proof of concepts, getting people aligned behind this, therefore it is brilliant to see those seven boroughs 

and to see so much interest from the private sector building companies around this.  We have seen lots of 

Page 24



 

 
 

reports from the industry.  The construction industry recently was asking Government to come out with that 

strategy and the other net zero strategies so that they can start to really have that certainty of planning and so 

on.  We know there are no regrets.  These are things we are going to have to do.  We are just getting on with 

what we can do in London.  These might be small numbers, but without doing those small numbers proof of 

concept you cannot get to the big numbers that are needed in London. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  No, otherwise we are going in that constant circle of proving that passive house works, 

all the sustainable homes is a good thing, destroying them and then having to reprove everything.   

 

The updated February 2021 Fuel Poverty Strategy confirmed a new fuel poverty metric, the low-income, low-

energy efficiency, which I have no doubt is going to be called ‘LILEE’ by all of its friends and possibly by some 

of its enemies.  It of course showed that London has the highest proportion of fuel poverty households by 

region at 16.7%.  We can probably work out what the factors are that have led Londoners to be 

overrepresented in this.  But specifically, what would you point the finger at? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is a combination of poorly insulated 

homes, which means high energy costs, incomes, very low level of incomes, and high costs in London.  That all 

leads to fuel poverty.  Then if you are looking to get energy, the energy prices are high.  We are seeing really 

volatile prices at the moment; prices are going up.  That sort of combination of issues, which the Mayor has 

addressed in his Fuel Poverty Action Plan, set those out.  The sorts of things that we are doing, like warmer 

homes, like the Warmer Homes Advice Service that we are funding local authorities to provide.  Advice on 

income maximisation, how they might access some of the programmes that we and local authorities have in 

terms of retrofitting homes.  Also how they might reduce their bills and so on.  Those are the sorts of things 

that we can help with and help facilitate local authorities with.  But obviously the bigger issue of benefits 

changes, raising people’s incomes, is a big thinking issue. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  Potentially, indirectly, some of the community energy groups that the Mayor has 

assisted with moving ahead with their plans, they also use some of the surplus that they have made to recycle 

it into offering energy advice workshops.  To my knowledge that is what Celsia has been doing and CREW 

[Energy] has been doing a lot, talking about South East and South West London.  I am less familiar with north 

London.  I believe there are other people in the room who can talk about north London instead.  You 

mentioned ECO earlier.  That seems to me to be a really good way of targeting some of these houses where we 

have people who might be making those choices between eating and heating and who really are fuel poor.  I 

believe the Mayor has said that fair funding would mean that London should get at least £130 million.  This 

seems to me to be a typical example of something where the Government’s levelling-up agenda should come 

into play.  Are we going to get a fair level of funding from ECO for fuel-poor Londoners? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I hope so.  We have certainly tried to 

facilitate accessing more of ECO by putting in place a scheme that operates London-wide, which has meant 

that more people fall into that definition of ECO, who would have fallen out of it.  That has increased the 

number who were accessing it and that has partly helped for our numbers going up.  But it is not sufficient.  

What we are going to do is look at the criteria and see if we can align more.  But it also requires the lobbying 

of Government to change the regulations so that some of that money can come back to support those people 

in fuel poverty. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  A lot of people have been talking about reaching EPC-C, which of course is a band.  As 

far as I understand what people are talking about is reaching Standard Energy Procedure (SAP) 69, which is the 

bottom of EPC-C.  I believe the Mayor has said that the 2030 target should be to reach EPC-B.  A and B are 

Page 25



 

 
 

fairly easy to achieve for new builds that have really good insulation and all the rest of it.  But for a lot of 

London’s housing stock, which is Edwardian and Victorian, solid wall, people might have put loft insulation in, 

but they cannot inject stuff into the walls.  It is pretty hard to improve the insulation.  Is it possible for us to 

get London’s housing stock to band B by 2030?  I am seriously worried that we just cannot. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The aspiration is to get those houses 

that can get to B as high up as we can.  But there are going to be homes that we are just not going to be able 

to do, precisely for those reasons.  Again, it is how do we maximise those?  Many of those are on E, F, G in this 

day and age, therefore how do we even get them to be as high or as close to B as possible?  Then it is about 

what else we might be able to do to help.  That is not going to solve fuel poverty in and of itself.  We need to 

be looking at incomes and so on as well. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  External Wall Insulation (EWI) or Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) is pretty disruptive for 

most people.  I am very conscious that I can see our friend from Barnsbury Housing is nodding on that one.  

You may have suspected, I have a background of working in housing associations.   

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  With new technologies and the whole 

house approach, and maybe James can go into that a bit better, then we have a better chance now of getting 

more houses up to EPC-B.  But I would imagine there would still be a proportion of the stock that would not.  

But we have to maximise their energy efficiency as much as we can do. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  Some of the new materials, the polymers that can create much thinner surfaces, are now 

becoming much more practical.  But at one point when people were talking about IWI it was incredibly thick 

and you would have to rehang every door and you would lose inches off people’s rooms, so they would 

probably have to lose half of their furniture.  That was never going to happen.  But maybe now, are we moving 

faster towards that in terms of the technologies? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The technologies are getting better.  I 

could not comment on that specific issue.  But there is a point that you have just raised there about people’s 

acceptability of these changes.  These are big disruptions and so on.  But the approach that we are taking 

through the work we are doing is precisely about how do you bring people along with you.  What are their 

concerns and what would remedy those concerns?  Because we need to act on this and using that information 

and that evidence and that learning is really going to help, not just London, but the rest of the country too. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  That is possibly a very strong area for the GLA to be involved in, is working out how to 

bring people with, in terms of that sort of behaviour change and happiness with change, given that the GLA is 

not a direct landlord owning organisation.   

 

I am quite interested in the idea of trying to get to band B and I also wonder whether Susan [French] might 

want to come in on that, because she looked as though she was very engaged on that area.  I know that it is so 

difficult. James, do you want to come in first on achieving band B by 2030? 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  Yes, I could say a couple of factual things 

that we have learned through our evidence gathering.  Shirley [Rodrigues] noted earlier that we have a London 

building stock model that took us over two and a half years to build with University College London (UCL).  

What that has shown so far is that we know that there are physical limitations to London’s buildings.  For 

example, we know that the majority of buildings within about F and G, our worst rating, are within the owner 

Page 26



 

 
 

occupier sector where we know there are no regulatory drivers we apply to the private rented sector.  That is a 

challenge. 

 

We also know that about a fifth of all of our buildings will not achieve a B or a C.  This points to what Shirley 

said earlier about having some at climate positive.  That is that they help pick up the slack of some of the 

others. 

 

Just going back to the question around fuel poverty, the Mayor’s Fuel Poverty Action Plan showed that there 

were no fuel-poor homes in London with a rating of an A or a B.  This was as at 2017.  But about 1,700 homes 

with a rating of around C.  At the time that was less than 0.5% of London’s fuel-poor homes and we know the 

number of fuel-poor homes has gone up.  London currently has about 530,000.  This gives you an idea of the 

orders of magnitude that we are talking about here. 

 

What we are trying to do through the Mayor’s programmes is effectively to try to prioritise a lot of the 

renewable installations that we want to make in London through the Mayor’s Warmer Homes programme by 

giving quite large grants, piggybacking on the local area delivery of funding that we have managed to secure.  

We have managed to secure about £30 million so far for the next year just to focus through the Warmer Homes 

programme. That will be principally about trying to bring those homes to a higher EPC and install renewables, 

solar panels, and increase the thermal efficiency of those homes. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  That is interesting. Would you be looking to give those grants into the private sector 

then mainly if that is where the bulk of those E, F or G rated properties are? 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  Over the last couple of years, when we 

started Warmer Homes in (I think it was) 2018, it started with owner occupier fuel-poor homes.  We then 

trialled the private rented sector and the Committee will be aware of some of the real challenges around 

leaseholders and tenants and getting approval through landlords and so on.  We trialled and we created a 

system where that worked quite successfully.  Now the Warmer Homes programme operates for all of the 

private rented sector as well as the owner occupier sector.  We will be trying to maximise what we can do there, 

given that they are the worst offenders when it comes to the most inefficient homes. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  My concern is about, if the grants are mainly going towards the homeowner rather than 

towards the private rented sector, Chair.  I just wonder whether this is something that we should be 

corresponding with the Mayor on in terms of where that budget is going to.  There are a lot of people who are 

in dire circumstances in the private rented sector.  Thank you. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair): We will come back to housing associations later on.  We are now just going to finish 

off talking to some of our other guests about the Government initiatives and the funding that we were talking 

about them having.  We talked a little bit about the technicalities there.  Assembly Member Clarke. 

 

Anne Clarke AM:  Thank you, Chair.  I should have mentioned earlier I do not know if it is really a declarable 

interest but my constituency is Barnet and Camden and Councillor Harrison serves at Camden Ward, as do you, 

which I do not normally declare. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  It is definitely not a conflict with your job, given it is your job. 

 

Anne Clarke AM:  No, but it felt wrong not to say anything at all.  My first question is for you, Bradley 

[Tully].  Do you feel we have a clear picture on what Government funding for retrofit will look like going 

Page 27



 

 
 

forward?  Is there any sense that London may receive less as the Government seeks to level up other areas and 

European Union (EU) funding is replaced with a shared prosperity fund? 

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  Thank you 

for your question.  On the issue of funding from a Government level, what we have said in our policy paper 

that we published last year, Retrofitting to Decarbonise, was that we really do need to see Government 

prioritising retrofitting as a national infrastructure priority.  We need a policy roadmap for the current schemes 

that are out there in terms of climate, energy and fuel poverty policies and how that roadmap will get us to the 

targets for 2030 and beyond.  That is something that needs to be looked at, at the central Government level. 

 

In terms of whether London will potentially receive less, I could not comment on that.  But I know that, looking 

at some of the schemes that we were talking about earlier from the London perspective, I know that at least 

one of them was partly funded by the European Regional Development Fund and obviously we cannot rely on 

funding like that anymore given that we are no longer in the European Union.  Those are things that we will 

have to consider. 

 

Anne Clarke AM:  Thank you. Susan, are Government initiatives such as the Social Housing Decarbonisation 

Fund and the Local Authority Delivery Scheme operating effectively? 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  It is 

in early stages.  In terms of my organisation, we managed to get a very small number of Green Homes grants 

last year.  As somebody else said, it is a really complex process.  It was a 20-step process to go through when 

you looked at the procedures that were involved.  Even though less than half of our homes are C and above, 

there was a really small percentage that qualified for the grant.  Then there was an income cap as well on the 

tenants who lived there.  In fact, we got two or three of the Green Homes grants.  We work well with the local 

authority but, in terms of the effort involved in securing the grant, for the output, the impact was relatively 

limited. 

 

There is a lot of work going on in BEIS at the minute about designing the decarbonisation fund.  The questions 

for us are about the level of funding, the certainty of funding.  One of the things that is a particular issue for 

small housing associations at the minute is the bidding timescales for these funds tend to be quite short.  If 

you do not have teams of people with ready-to-go schemes it is really difficult to produce schemes and then 

bid and then deliver within what are quite short timescales.  What we would like to see is funding programmes 

with three to five-year time horizons so that we can look at our normal stock investment plan and say, “This is 

what we are going to spend, these are the schemes, these are the interventions we are going to make over the 

next three to five years.  How can we apply for funding?”  We know that the funding is going to be there to 

support that work that is going on. 

 

From my knowledge, BEIS is listening to those concerns, but it feels like there is a little way to go before we 

get a scheme that is working properly for all housing associations. 

 

Anne Clarke AM:  Is anything about that scheme working particularly well?  It sounds like there are a number 

of challenges. 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  I am 

part of a couple of national housing federation groups that are talking to BEIS and there is a real willingness to 

listen to, “How can we design these schemes to make it work?”  But it has not got to the point where the 

outputs are there.  We do not know exactly what the scheme is going to look like. 

Page 28



 

 
 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

In relation to funding it is really important that any funding schemes are consistent and affordable and that 

they are in place for a number of years.  There has been a myriad of different schemes at Government level 

over several years, some of which have been more successful than others.  That is something that needs to be 

considered. 

 

Anne Clarke AM:  James, the GLA is leading a consortia of London boroughs, which have secured funding via 

the Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery Scheme.  Can you tell us what projects you are delivering 

under this scheme? 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  We have secured so far just under 

£10 million through what is the Greater South East Energy Hub.  The GLA secured around £10 million and we 

have a further about £18.7 million through the hub. What we are going to try to do with that is improve about 

3,000 homes across London, of all tenures, and these will be operating through the Warmer Homes 

programme. We have also been successful in securing funding through the Social Housing Decarbonisation 

Fund. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Can I come in at that point? Because James has just outlined that in the first round 

we received £10 million, in the second round £18 million; is that right? That is £10 million out of £74 million 

for the whole country. That does not seem proportionate. 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  We shared £9.45 million exactly for the GLA 

to fund the Warmer Homes Programme, over and above what the GLA was funding anyway, which was over 

£2 million.  We then bid as a consortia.  There is hub bidding, you will probably know, and there are many hubs 

across the country.  For the South East it involves London and some of the areas around it.  There is an 

allocation for that hub, of which about £19 million will be directed through the Mayor’s Warmer Homes 

Programme. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  My question is only, rather than go through the numbers again, as a proportion of 

what we are getting in London compared with the rest of the country, is that about right, considering how 

many homes we have?  It sounds not. 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  No, as Shirley [Rodrigues] said, this is 

actually very good.  We have long lobbied for our fair share of funding.  So far we have secured more or less 

our fair share of funding. To get our fair share in total it would be more like £50 million, but compared to 

historical levels this is quite good.   

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  So it is not proportional, but it is a bit better than it used to be.  

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  Yes. We have other bids in as well.  You will 

probably know, with the local authority delivery and the Social Housing Development Fund, there are lots of 

different way and we are moving through that process with Government. We are securing money at every 

single stage.   

 

Anne Clarke AM: Bradley, it is not intended that the public sector will entirely fund decarbonisation and 

some funding will have to come from the private sector.  Do you think there is a clear path forward on how to 

make this transition and is enough being done to stimulate the market, to take on a degree of self-sufficiency? 

Page 29



 

 
 

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  Not at this 

stage.  What was said earlier by the Deputy Mayor about the role of the private sector, when you think about 

the level of investment that is going to be needed and the level of skills, the pipeline of skills, that will have to 

come through then, yes, private sector involvement will be necessary.  Government cannot rely on that at this 

stage.  I am sure we will go into it later in the session, but there really is the skills gap at the moment.  Skills 

and funding, I would say, are the two biggest challenges in the retrofitting area.  Until we have significant 

progress on those it would be very difficult to meet the substantial targets in the retrofitting of existing 

housing stock. 

 

Anne Clarke AM:  Thank you. [Councillor] Adam [Harrison], do you think the Government is giving enough 

political leadership on this issue? Are they giving you and your residents certainty over what needs to be done 

over the next 30 years? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

On your second question there, as the speakers have already said, what is most required is certainty, in terms 

of funding and Government intentions to support the expenditure that we are going to have to give out over 

the next few years.  This is not just in terms of local authorities being able to plan  ahead for what we are going 

to do with our own stock, which is a process we are currently actively going through within Camden, to 

understand our stock and plan ahead for the next few years.  It is clear from our teams talking to contractors 

and potential providers that things like the abolition of the Green Homes Grant for private home owners within 

the last year and other stop start schemes that we have seen over the years has harmed confidence among the 

contractors who need to be investing in their own workforce, who need to be gaining the quality accreditations 

that are needed.  They have been really shaken by that.  To try to remedy that, we are working with other 

councils.  We are working with the GLA to think about what role we can play, in terms of improving that skills 

pipeline, working with local further education colleges and so on.  Perhaps there has been an underestimation 

of the impact of that uncertainty in the private sector retrofit space.  

 

It is good that there is some certainty in the social housing space, in the form of the social housing 

decarbonisation fund and other streams that are coming forward, because that will give the confidence to 

ourselves and to others that there is some funding coming forward, it is worth investing, it is worth creating 

these jobs.  It would be stronger if, as London, we had two wings to fly, so all sectors were powering forward 

and that we were able to ensure that we are able to deliver when this funding comes forward.  At the moment, 

there is still that huge uncertainty about whether we have the people who could undertake the retrofit.  There 

is a lot of talk all the time about Green New Deal, Green Jobs Revolution, but now is the time to establish that 

certainty. It is interesting hearing Susan’s remarks about BEIS, there is willingness.  I would not be a total critic 

of the Government on this, but we need to move more quickly.   

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you. Assembly Member Devenish has a quick follow up question. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman): Susan, you mentioned 20 steps of complexity of getting this 

money. Do you have a flow chart from one of these you could send us?  It is a good point of how complex it is.   

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  I 

would have to talk to the local authority we work with, because it is essentially their process.  It is the process 

we had to go through. 

 

Page 30



 

 
 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  James, do you think there is any way we could simplify down?  I 

know this is a Government procurement, but it is also a GLA one.  Can we simplify these processes down so 

people do not lose the will to live when they are bidding for this? 

 

James Hardy (Head of Energy, Greater London Authority):  When we are bidding for money from 

Government?  Absolutely, the Government is already learning by doing that; the first two tranches of the Local 

Authority Delivery Fund went directly to authorities, where the money that has come through the hub, which 

eventually will go to boroughs, has been much more complicated.  They have already seen that it has been 

complicated.  Now they are reverting back to their initial way of doing things for the third tranche.  What 

people have said is absolutely right.  They need to have a lot longer delivery time.  Government feels that you 

can do retrofit almost instantaneously.  We should not forget that a lot of this funding was launched during 

lockdown.  That was when many sites were not in operation.  That is when many organisations were not fully 

functioning and when homes were not accessible.  As a result, that has really squeezed the timelines.  That has 

also put pressure on the supply chain as well, which we know is fledgling.   

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you. The next section is about the challenges, more practical challenges as 

well.  Assembly Member Baker.  

 

Elly Baker AM:  Susan, what has been the experience with retrofit as Barnsbury Housing Association? 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  First 

of all, I would say we are right at the start of our journey on this.  Our board made [the] decision about 

18 months ago that because about a third of our tenants really struggle to pay their fuel bills, that this should 

be a priority for us.  On a personal level, I have done a lot of work over the last 18 months to get us to the start 

of this.  I know from other colleagues on the g320 that there is a huge willingness and appetite for retrofit, but 

a lot of organisations are only on the starting blocks. I would say, in terms of our experience, it is not typical, 

but others will be going down the same path that we have come down over the next year or two.  As I say we 

are very small, we have 300 homes, and one of the challenges we have is that about a third of our homes are 

listed buildings.  Almost all of our homes are in conservation areas. That adds another layer of complexity to it.  

We started off by establishing our baseline and getting EPCs right across our stock.  We had about 25% 

before.   

 

We have been working with some specialists to model each one of our buildings and work out what we need to 

do to get it to a good standard. That standard will not be net zero.  It is just not going to be possible on many 

of the buildings that we own. We are working with some specialist architects and energy consultants on a pilot 

project in Barnsbury Street, which are some of the first properties we ever bought, back in the 1960s.  It is 

quite a painful process, to be honest.  We are having conversations about the measures that we can put in 

there.  Probably, for that particular retrofit, it is a one-bedroom flat in a Grade 2 listed building.  We are going 

to invest about £30,000. I was having a conversation just yesterday about IWI and what is going to be possible 

to do to the windows.  It is quite difficult.  We are trying to come up with a mechanism for balancing cost, 

disruption, the carbon impact we will have, the impact on SAP rating and make a judgment.  How do we make 

the right judgment about what are the right interventions in each property?  A particular challenge is around 

planning and how heritage buildings are treated.  Dialogue will have to be started at some point with planning 

about standards and where the compromises might have to be in heritage properties, in terms of improving 

energy efficiency.  We obviously cannot do, and would never want to do, EWI on listed buildings, but what can 

we do on the inside of the building?  Looking at windows, even double-glazed replacement panels in the 

existing windows are not acceptable.  There are always going to be weak points in those buildings.  They are 

the sorts of very practical challenges that we are dealing with. 

Page 31



 

 
 

 

Elly Baker AM:  That is really helpful, thank you.  Just very specifically on what you were saying, obviously 

you are talking about fuel bills and the disruption to tenants.  How do you manage that?  How do you engage 

with your tenants on that? 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  

Again, I would say that we are at the start of that.  We started to have conversations with our residents’ panel 

and with residents generally and people are really receptive and they understand the challenge.  It really bumps 

up against reality when you are trying to plan a deep retrofit in a property.  We are taking an easy route and 

doing it in an empty property at the minute, but if you are doing IWIs it is much more difficult.  A lot of our 

properties have lovely cornicing and they have shutter boxes.  That is where the difficult conversations have to 

happen with residents around what is possible.  What can we do with you living there?  Are we going to have 

to move people out of properties while the work is done?  I would say we are just at the start of those 

conversations.  There was an interesting piece of work done recently by the Tenant Participation Advisory 

Service around what tenants in social housing were saying about retrofitting and about the challenge and some 

interesting findings around the use of language around fuel poverty.  People do not want to think that they 

are poor, so the language we are starting to use is about liveability and comfort in properties rather than using 

language around fuel poverty.  It is quite interesting and quite unexpected.   

 

Elly Baker AM:  I can imagine.  More broadly, from a g320 perspective, what barriers do smaller housing 

associations face in retrofitting their stock? 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  As I 

say, many small housing associations are at the start of this.  Generally, in London, smaller housing associations 

have older and harder to treat stock than average, because we have not been building lots of new homes over 

the last 20 years.  On the plus side, because we have not been building those homes, there may be a bit more 

financial capacity in business plans, because we do not have the huge fire remediation bills that some of the 

larger ones have, although we do have some.  The biggest challenge is around in-house capacity, the skills and 

the expertise within the organisation.  My organisation has 14 staff.  I have one asset manager.  It is about 

taking that strategic view about retrofit and delivery.  It is a big span of skills and knowledge and capacity to 

deliver.  That is one of the big challenges.  I will just add one more thing which is about the funding packages 

that are in there, as somebody said, there are a complex plethora of different schemes, with often very short 

timescales, and you need specialist teams to bid for them.  Finding ways of collaborating together to help us 

access funding is something that is really important. 

 

Elly Baker AM:  Adam, Camden has around 30,000 homes that need retrofit in the borough and it will cost 

about £1 billion.  Can you see a clear path to achieving this and how much could be achieved with the 

resources currently at your disposal? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

Similar to what Susan said, I would not quite say we are at the start of this process, but there is still a lot that 

we are working through to understand how to meet that financial challenge.  Putting aside the potential 

difficulties around labour supply and skills and so on, that financial challenge is absolutely crucial.  Probably 

within our own resources, we would not be able to fund it.  We would be looking for other sources of funding.  

There are a variety of locations for that.  The Government as well as simplifying the funding streams and 

providing more certainty, by which I also mean probably less grant bidding processes and looking for ways 

which other streams could be opened up for local authorities and housing associations and others to draw 

Page 32



 

 
 

down on directly would be extremely helpful.  That would have a wider beneficial impact of stimulating the 

market.  So, certainly direct support from the Government.   

 

We are also looking at what other models we could apply within our own housing.  Thinking about our 

leaseholders who own around a third of the stock on leasehold that we have as freehold, we have successfully 

trialled measures in the past.  For example, we created a decentralised energy network next to the Royal Free 

Hospital, in one of our estates, and that is connected to around 1,500 homes, and set up a 14 year recharge 

arrangement for our leaseholders.  We do have some experience of innovating on that.  Greater guidance and 

greater work from the Government and others, Green Finance Institute was mentioned who are looking at 

trialling quite a few different types of models, bringing forward some of that guidance, testing those out as 

rapidly as we can and settling on some new powers that we could apply within our own stock would be 

extremely helpful, in terms of us being able to work out what finance we can unlock locally to help fund some 

of the works that we want to undertake.   

 

Finally, we are, and we need to look at, combining retrofit works with the other works that we are going to be 

doing anyway, so our regular maintenance works, our fire safety works.  This is certainly something that has 

happened over the years already.  We do retrofit as we go, but there is a new energy and there is a new 

political will now to look more carefully at making sure we are retrofitting as much as we can. 

 

Elly Baker AM:  Obviously given the urgency of the climate emergency, but also the disruption that there will 

be for tenants, how have you or how do you foresee engaging with the tenants through that process? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

It certainly could be a challenging process.  Leaseholders are certainly concerned.  I have been contacted lately 

by some of our leaseholder representatives worried about the impacts they think they may have to face.  That 

is why we need, as quickly as possible, to be able to provide some solutions.  There is certainly strong, as Susan 

[French] said, interest and support for those sorts of measures.  When we undertook a citizens’ assembly on 

the climate emergency a couple of years ago, retrofitting our stock and removing fossil fuels from our own 

properties was one of the recommendations that citizens made.  It will be when we get down to the finer detail 

of how that is paid for that we want to be able to provide some of that reassurance up front.  We want to be 

able to draw down on those models, such as the ones we trialled, which I mentioned about the 14-year pay 

back.  We want to be able to present those and talk through those options with our residents as soon as we 

can.  

 

Elly Baker AM: Thank you.  To both of you, have you experienced any issues with the quality of retrofit 

projects within your stock? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

We have had quite good experience, I would say overall.  Again, just to go back to the accreditation industry 

standards that do exist, we would like to see those taken up more broadly by the industry. 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  We 

have not got to that point yet. 

 

Elly Baker AM:  Do you have any feedback from any of the other small housing associations in g320? 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  No, 

not from smalls, particularly.  The only thing I would say is that on some new-build properties where we have 

Page 33



 

 
 

technology like air source heat pumps, which will be the technology that we will end up retrofitting into our 

existing stock, there is a real piece around occupants getting used to what that means for how people live in 

their homes, because it operates quite differently to traditional gas boilers.  There is a bit of a gap there, I 

would say, in terms of performance.   

 

Elly Baker AM:  That is interesting, thank you.   

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  There is a question about smaller firms.  We asked Shirley [Rodrigues] whether or 

not the scheme from the GLA, the Partnership Project, was excluding smaller firms.  I was just wanting to see if 

any of you have experience of small versus large firms, in terms of delivering it.  Adam, when you answered 

that question there, you were answering about retrofit pilots and things like that, as opposed to the overall 

repairs and maintenance. Shirley [Rodrigues], earlier on, talked about unlocking the £10 million market 

through the Innovation Partnership idea.  A lot of that was based on using regular maintenance done by local 

authorities as a kind of proxy for retrofit.  Obviously regular maintenance is done by different firms that 

generally do the super green work, if that is a reasonable technical term to use.  The question is: do you find in 

general that smaller firms offer potentially better quality service, given that the work we have seen about 

retrofit says that most of the work is labour rather than technology? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

The officers who deal with the firms more directly may know that.  It is not something I have heard that one is 

better than the other.  Certainly, what I would hope for in the future as we stimulate and create that industry is 

that there would be a range of firms and that there would be local firms.  We certainly know that within 

Camden some of the skills we are looking for, where they do exist at the moment, that there is a shortage in 

London, and they are largely not based in Camden.  They are largely in East London and elsewhere.  We do not 

have to be so local that we demand everything in one place.  It would be healthy to have a London-wide skilled 

workforce to be able to draw on and for that to be mobile across the capital.  Through our procurement 

processes in the past and through our planning processes, in Camden, we have always been quite successful in 

generating and securing local employment.  I would hope that we could foster that as well, in terms of new 

firms, smaller firms, and specialist firms who are able to deliver the work that we need.   

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Yes, the general hope is that a green recovery will involve new firms springing up.  I 

am just slightly worried that the model of having very large companies who subcontract the work may be 

replicated with this.  I hope that makes sense to other Members.  Bradley [Tully}, is there anything you wanted 

to add on, on any of these questions around local authorities, markets and resources available to them? 

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  Not on that 

specifically, but what I would say, just around London, is that you really do need to look at the different 

tenures and the fact that the private rented sector is so much higher in London than the rest of the country.  

London will potentially take a slightly different approach to the rest of England. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  That is really helpful.  Moving on to the final section of questions, Assembly 

Member Boff. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Yes, to carry on from what was said, the introduction of rent controls is going to introduce 

a problem, is it not, for private landlords to retrofit their properties? 

 

Page 34



 

 
 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  Yes, it could 

potentially.  We are not in favour of rent control, but as to the exact impact that will cause I am not sure.  I can 

certainly get back to you on that.  

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Thank you.  We have another challenge as well, in terms of taller buildings.  We are 

currently removing cladding from lots of tall buildings.  The reason that the cladding was put there was 

because towers are so very inefficient in terms of energy.  Is there going to be a problem in the future 

retrofitting those tall buildings? 

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  We really 

need to look at it as an opportunity to do both, because both are fundamentally important.  Cladding 

remediation work is important from a building safety point of view.  Retrofitting work is fundamentally 

important from a long-term sustainability point of view in terms of people and the planet.  Any opportunity 

where we can look at how remediation work in terms of cladding and further work in terms of installing solar 

photovoltaic (PV) panels on high rise buildings can take place concurrently is something that should be -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  They are a much harder challenge, are they not?  We heard our Planning and 

Regeneration Committee, I know we overlap a lot, only last year, say that if you go from six storeys to 20 

storeys, the energy intensity per square metre is doubled.  That must create a real problem when you are trying 

to retrofit down to zero.   

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  Yes.  I do not 

know on that point specifically, but there will certainly be challenges that need to be looked at.   

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Councillor Harrison, do you see any problems within your tall-building stock at the 

moment?  Do you see any particular problems there with retrofitting that typology of building? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

Yes, they will come with their own greater costs.  We are recladding a number of them at the moment, in light 

of fire safety concerns, so that is an example of being able to bring some of that benefit together at the same 

time.   

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Is that cladding going to bring those buildings down to what is required for net zero? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

Net zero entails a whole range of other things which are not being delivered by the cladding replacement.  We 

would have to look at, as we have already heard many times, all the other contributors to that, whether it is the 

energy source or the windows. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Do you feel that you might have to reclad in order to meet net zero over and above what 

you are cladding at the moment? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

Not particularly.  This cladding will last a number of decades.  If you take a building like that, you would be 

looking then at implementing some of those other measures I have just mentioned for us to be able to do that. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  You do not anticipate a situation where the cladding of a building will prove a challenge in 

terms of energy efficiency? 

Page 35



 

 
 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

The cladding we will be using is the most up to date.  As with this whole picture, technology is moving on all 

the time.   

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Are the demands on yourselves to retrofit going to affect your ability to deliver new 

homes? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

No, I do not think so.  That remains a hugely important political priority for us to be building genuinely 

affordable housing alongside delivering fire safety works and now this hugely important ambition we have also 

taken on to decarbonise our housing stock.  For all our housing it is 25% of the borough.  It is 10% of our own 

direct stock.  It is not a challenge that we can shy away from. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  It is not a challenge, even though it is going to cost you a lot? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

It will certainly cost a lot, as we have heard, which is why we need to draw upon all of these different sources 

of finance that will be available.  What is lacking at the moment is these clearer frameworks and these models 

and mechanisms that we can all be applying.  Councils need to be empowered, to be given the powers to do 

this, and to apply these locally with their communities.  This is why I say there needs to be a range of options 

available, so we can select the right ones.  It would be extremely helpful if the Government would set that 

framework.  Something the GLA can be really useful in is to make the case for London, because of our own 

distinctive type of housing stock that we have and to press that case for London local authorities to have those 

powers and to have the funding available to them. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  You can rest assured we make that case all the time, in terms of devolution of powers to 

London and their boroughs.  Ms French, does it prove a challenge for you to expand? 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):   Yes, 

when we did our first estimates, which were an average of £25,000 per home and we plug that into our  

30-year business plan, it basically wiped out all of our development capacity that we had.  We had capacity to 

build about 40 homes and that money would all be spent on retrofitting.  Obviously, that does not take any 

grant funding into account and we very much hope we will be able to get that in, but it has a big impact on our 

ability to deliver new homes. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  That is rather worrying, bearing in mind you have so many demands for new homes.  Do 

you think the right balance is being struck between ensuring quality retrofit, while recognising the need to 

deliver quickly at scale?  Would you like to see changes?  Do you think the quality of retrofit might be being 

affected because of the demands of getting it done quickly?   

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  We heard the opposite earlier on, from Shirley, that they are working hard to get 

pilot schemes very right, because they do not have the capacity to roll it out, so instead they are working on 

improving the pilots.  Does that make sense? 

 

Léonie Cooper AM: There is not any speed.  Since the Code for Sustainable Homes was abolished it has been 

really, really slow.   

 

Page 36



 

 
 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Yes, it is getting better, but slower.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  It is just insignificant these days, I am sorry to say. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Two [questions] to Mr Tully.  Investing in the retrofit of the social sector is a good place 

to start building the industry, but sooner rather than later, homeowners and the private rented sector will 

require an increase in retrofit works.  How can these tenures be encouraged, bearing in mind they are being 

asked to do a lot of other stuff at the same time? 

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  There are a 

number of ways that we can encourage change in the owner occupier sector or the private sector.  Regulation 

from central government is one of the best ways of encouraging consumer change.  There are also other things 

that can be done, in terms of green finance initiatives and other initiatives.  Mortgage lenders can play a role, 

for instance, through offering green lending for home improvement work.  In our policy paper last year, we also 

said that Government could potentially support a home improvement individual savings account (ISA) or things 

like that, things that encourage behaviour change and consumer change.  Incidentally, we also recently 

published Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Low Carbon Consumer Guide, around the practical 

steps that consumers can take to lower their bills and improve rates of fuel poverty.  I would be happy to send 

that to the Committee as well.  We would really welcome any endorsement from the Committee in terms of 

publicising that and pushing it out more broadly.  There is an issue around funding and skills and all these 

issues.  There is also an issue around how we change consumer behaviour across all kinds of tenures. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Do you think that there is a danger that that regulation you mentioned might result in 

fewer people wanting to get involved in the housing business? 

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  No, not 

necessarily.  It is really about bringing people along and taking a holistic approach.  If you are engaging with 

industry and if you are engaging with the financial sector, then people will not fear change. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Thank you.  Councillor Harrison, Do you find that there are some lease terms that pose a 

barrier to retrofitting? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

It depends what type of measure you are trying to implement.  Like I said before, we have certainly been 

introducing insulation and window replacement as part of our general works programme.  It is something we 

are still looking at.  When you start to get into replacing gas powered heating with air source heat pumps or 

ground source heat pumps or so on where the costs are quite significant, that is something we are still trying to 

tackle and there could well be obstacles. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Yes.  Some of us have a view that leaseholders are asked to pay enough already and just 

asking them to pay more and more seems unfair really.   

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

Perhaps.  I should say here I am a Camden leaseholder, just to be clear.  The vision is clear that we do need to 

be decarbonising our housing stock.  It is a question of how we do that.  Shirley [Rodrigues] mentioned the 

Energiesprong initiative earlier and there are other similar models.  Ideally this is how it would work: you would 

allow leaseholders to pay some sort of a regular charge to account to help fund works that need to be 

Page 37



 

 
 

undertaken over time.  That is another more constant income stream that you could start to apply to allow 

councils and other property owners to be able to undertake these necessary works. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Do you anticipate Camden being tempted to build more tall buildings, bearing in mind the 

inherent problems that there are? 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair): That is very much a planning committee question, if you can answer very quickly. 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

The Government seems to be wanting to encourage us to build tall buildings and to say where they are going 

to go.   

 

Andrew Boff AM:  I know their faulty view.  Do you think you are going to be building more? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

Not to fund retrofit.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  What does that have to do with retrofit Chair? 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  I am indulging you for one moment, AM Boff. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  The problem with tall buildings is that they are inherently energy inefficient.  We have 

heard today already that we are building homes now that will require retrofitting. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  That is a very good point. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  If so, do you not think we should stop it and start to reflect that these tall buildings are 

creating problems for the future and will need retrofitting? 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  I am really sorry, Andrew, you are talking very eloquently there, but I have to bring 

the meeting to order.  I wanted to ask one very quick wrap-up question to Councillor Harrison, which is Shirley 

[Rodrigues] listed the councils that are part of the Innovation Partnership and Camden is not.  Could you very 

briefly tell us why not? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

I cannot answer that directly, but what I can say is we are working with other councils to develop partnership 

working on skills and on funding.  We are collaborating with other boroughs to be able to devise solutions for 

the future.  That regional model is going to be really important.  It is something we are hoping to develop, so 

that we procure at scale and so we can work together at scale on working with contractors, working with 

further education providers and so on.  It is bringing together all the pieces of this puzzle. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  It is not that you are against it, you are just not in it yet, as it were? 

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

No, certainly not against it.  I know Camden’s officers are collaborating at a number of levels and in a number 

of different formats, with London Councils, with the GLA.  It is possible they were at capacity when they were 

offered the opportunity.  I am afraid I do not know why we are not part of it directly.  Like I say, there is a huge 

amount of partnership work going forward that we really want to ramp up to see how we can deliver on this 

Page 38



 

 
 

challenge, which is not going fast enough at the moment, which is perhaps why we were stumped by an earlier 

question.  It is good that we are also doing some whole property retrofit as well, similar to some of the work 

that Shirley [Rodrigues] mentioned.  Really the challenge is about how to scale up and ramp up as quickly as 

possible. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you. Bradley [Tully], you mentioned that you have produced a guide for 

landlords and homeowners, people who might be interested to do works.  I was really interested in what Susan 

[French] had said about there being this 20-step process to apply and knowing that the Green Homes Grants 

and other ways of doing things are a barrier.  I am going to leak into planning now.  On the planning 

permission side of things, do you find that that is a barrier?  I certainly, as a local councillor dealing with case 

work in my ward, sometimes find that one of the major barriers people have is the worry that they will not get 

planning permission, because they are in a conservation area.  Certainly, with solar panels, which I know Shirley 

has said very much is, if you cannot get down the energy use then make the energy you use renewable.  That 

is one of the ways of bringing down the carbon of a home.  If your solar panels face the road, when they are 

facing south, you may not get permission.  All those things might be barriers.  Does your guide aim to deal 

with those and are they significant for people who might otherwise be funding it themselves? 

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  The guide 

that we produce is very high level about the very basic steps that you can take and also says that the more 

extensive work that you can do in terms of retrofitting and the expertise that you can call on to get guidance 

on that.  In terms of the exact planning decisions and rules, I am not entirely sure on that.  I can certainly get 

back to you on that when I send across this guide.  There probably is a level of consumer hesitance about what 

they are and are not allowed to do in their own home.  Yes, as much as we can create clarity on that as possible 

is very welcome. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Susan, you mentioned something about the heritage buildings that you have, do you 

think some kind of discussion about heritage and conservation changes and rules and ways of doing it that are 

compatible might be a useful thing to do? 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  It is 

absolutely essential.  Speaking to another much bigger landlord, they are having discussions with one of their 

local authorities about treating the front of properties and the back of properties differently.  The area where 

we work, that is not something where there is a dialogue opening up at the minute, but it is absolutely 

essential, because the messages we are getting are that heritage trumps everything else.  That is not 

sustainable in the long-term. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  It does not even have to be an even or in some cases.  We will think about that. 

Bradley, you have talked and we have all talked a number of times about the fact there is a skills gap.  Is there 

anything you can do for us today to put some numbers on that in terms of the significance of it to the ability 

to achieve the targets and also, how many jobs?  The Mayor mentioned 150,000 jobs.  Is that a good number? 

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  I do not have 

exact figures about what we need.  It is similar to the issue of funding; we recognise that it is significant and 

there are different views about -- 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Can you put an order of magnitude?  Is it tens of thousands of people need to be 

trained or is it hundreds of thousands? 

 

Page 39



 

 
 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  I would not 

like to hazard a guess, it might be slightly out.  I am sure I can get back to you and give you a rough estimate 

of what we expect.  There are things that Government, again, can do.  For instance, temporarily cutting value 

added tax (VAT) on home improvement work, which currently favours new build, to 5%.  That is something 

that we and other organisations have pushed for.  We have said that that could create tens of thousands of 

green jobs.  It has an economic stimulus as well.  There are things that can be done in order to try and create 

that demand.  In terms of skills, we also need to build up the knowledge.  RICS professionals are upskilling and 

there is more that needs to be done in terms of improving the skills of installers, engineers, estate agents, and 

surveyors.  There are a lot of people in the mix.   

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  You cannot put any numbers on the number of training places, the number of new 

tutors, the number of …? 

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  I will certainly 

get back to you on that.  It is not my area unfortunately. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  OK, if you could find out for us that would be really interesting.  I imagine the whole 

picture is incredibly complicated by the gap in people coming from other countries to work here as well, with 

coronavirus and Brexit.  All of those things interact. 

 

Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors):  Indeed, yes, 

that has certainly had an impact on supply chains and deliveries as well.   

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Yes, trained people may not be available to do the training.  Susan? 

 

Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair of the g320):  I was 

just going to add one thing about that, a piece of work that is being done, this is nationally, to get to net zero 

by 2050, 3,500 homes have to be retrofitted every week.  I do not know what the numbers being retrofitted 

are, but it is probably 1% of that.  That just gives some idea of the challenge, I suppose. 

 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  In terms of the skills gap, is there anything that is missing at a London level?  The 

Mayor is working on skills academies and there is a recovery programme being put together.  Is there anything 

you think could be done without Government funding at the London level that we could encourage the Mayor 

to do?   

 

Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden, London Borough of Camden):  

Funding being made available to support apprenticeships, to support training courses at local level throughout 

the network of construction centres that exist or the further education colleges that we have, would be a 

helpful component of that wider picture of the sector ramping up, the sector expanding, of hopefully the 

creation of more new local companies.  There is not the capacity at the moment to deliver what we need to.  

So some kind prime funding within that sector would be extremely helpful.  Again, there would be a variety of 

forms that could take.  The apprenticeship pathway is not terribly clear into retrofit at the moment.  Also, at 

the moment there is a lack of electricians, scaffolders, all sorts of construction workers.  There is likely to be a 

lack of specialists in the whole house deeper retrofit challenge that we are going to have to deliver on as well.  

To make sure those newer skills are more available as well, would be helpful to support those financially.  

 

Page 40



 

 
 

Siân Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you, that is really helpful.  The thing about apprenticeships is they need to be 

with firms that already exist.  You train on the job.  That would be something we could with those firms that 

we have in partnership, potentially.  Thank you so much to our guests. 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

v1/2021 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 

Report to: Housing Committee 

Report of:   Executive Director of Secretariat 

Date: 19 October 2021 

Public 
Access: 

This report will be considered in public 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report updates the Committee on the progress made on actions arising from previous meetings 

of the Housing Committee. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from its 

previous meetings and the additional correspondence sent and received. 

3. Summary List of Actions 

Actions Arising from the Meeting Held on 20 July 2021 

Item 

No.: 

Item Title Responsible 

Person 

Action(s) Status 

9 Decarbonising 

London’s Homes 

Senior Public 

Affairs Officer, 

Royal 

Institution of 

Chartered 

Surveyors 

(RICS) 

To provide: 

 More details on the potential 

impact of rent control measures on 

the ability of private landlords to 

fund retrofitting; 

 A rough estimate from RICS in 

regards to the skills gap, training 

and number of jobs required to be 

created; and 

 

Completed. 

See 

Appendix 

1 and 

online. 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 4

http://www.london.gov.uk/


  

Item 

No.: 

Item Title Responsible 

Person 

Action(s) Status 

 The RICS Low Carbon Consumer 

Guide1 and further information 

about RICS guidance in terms of 

planning decisions and rules for 

retrofitting in conservation areas. 

9 Decarbonising 

London’s Homes 

Chief Executive 

of Barnsbury 

Housing 

Association and 

Vice Chair of 

the g320 

To provide more detail on the 20 steps 

required to apply for the Green Homes 

grants. 

 

In progress. 

Followed 

up on 30 

September 

2021. 

9 Decarbonising 

London’s Homes 

Deputy Mayor 

for 

Environment 

and Energy 

To provide the following additional 

information:  

 Details of the current retrofitting 

programmes planned for the 

current Mayoral term and an 

assessment of the total number of 

homes within the programmes to 

be retrofitted; 

 Details of how the figures for the 

Innovation Partnership of a £10 

billion market and 150,000 jobs 

were derived; 

 Whether any funding for 

retrofitting could be sought from 

within the unallocated grant from 

the Affordable Homes Programme; 

and 

 An update on the progress made 

against the Retrofit Accelerator 

aims. 

Completed. 

See 

Appendix 

6. 

9 Decarbonising 

London’s Homes 

Senior Policy 

Adviser 
That authority be delegated to the 

Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output 

from the discussion.  

 

Completed. 

See 

Agenda 

Item 5. 

10 Work Programme Senior Policy 

Adviser 
That authority be delegated to the 

Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the 

Affordable Housing Monitor for 

publication.  

 

Ongoing. 

                                                 

1 Available online at https://www.ricsfirms.com/media/1274/rics-guide-reducing-carbon-in-your-home.pdf 

Page 44



  

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting Held on 9 February 2021 

Item 

No.: 

Item Title Responsible 

Person 

Action(s) Status 

6 End-of-term 

Meeting with 

the DMHRD 

Deputy Mayor 

for Housing 

and Residential 

Development 

The DMHRD agreed to confirm the 

amount left unallocated in the current 

Affordable Housing Programme  

2016-2023 at the end of this term. 

 

Completed.  

See MQT 

response 

2021/12112. 

Actions Arising from the Meeting Held on 10 November 2020 

Item 

No.: 

Item Title Responsible 

Person 

Action(s) Status 

7 COVID-19, 

Rough 

Sleeping and 

Homelessness 

in London 

 

Rough Sleeping 

Lead, Greater 

London 

Authority 

(GLA) 

To provide data on the schemes being 

funded under the Rough Sleeping 

Accommodation Programme (RSAP), 

including the types of homes and 

tenancies, and an estimate of the 

revenue and capital amount needed 

per home under each scheme. 

 

In progress. 

Followed 

up on 8 

October 

2021. 

 

4. Additional Correspondence  

4.1 On 2 June 2021, the Chair of the London Assembly EU Exit Working Group wrote to the Chair of the 

Housing Committee to hand over issues that the Housing Committee might wish to consider, now 

that the EU Exit Working group has concluded.  The letter is attached for noting at Appendix 2. 

4.2 On 18 June 2021, the Chair of the Housing Committee wrote to the Secretary of State for Housing 

Communities and Local Government in regard to bringing forward the abolishment of section 21 

evictions3.  The response from Eddie Hughes MP, Minister for Rough Sleeping and Housing, was 

received on 15 July 2021 and is attached for noting at Appendix 3.  

4.3 The Chair of the Housing Committee wrote to the Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential 

Development and the Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills on 25 August 2021 to 

request data for the Committee’s annual Affordable Housing Monitor.  The letter and the response 

are attached at Appendices 4 and 5. 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

                                                 

2 Available online at www.london.gov.uk/2021/1211  
3 Available online at https://www.london.gov.uk/assembly-publications/call-abolish-section-21  

Page 45

http://www.london.gov.uk/2021/1211
https://www.london.gov.uk/assembly-publications/call-abolish-section-21


  

6. Financial Implications 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Letter from Bradley Tully, RICS, 26 August 2021 

Appendix 2 – Letter from Chair of the EU Exit Working Group, 2 June 2021 

Appendix 3 – Response from Minister for Rough Sleeping and Housing, 15 July 2021 

Appendix 4 – Letter to Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development and the  

Deputy Mayor for  Planning, Regeneration and Skills, 25 August 2021 

Appendix 5 – Response from Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development and the  

Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills, 21 September 2021 

Appendix 6 – Response from Deputy Mayor for Environment & Energy, 8 October 2021 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: 

None 

Contact Information 

Contact Officer: Diane Richards, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 07925 353478 

E-mail:  diane.richards@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 46

mailto:diane.richards@london.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

Sian Berry AM 

Chair, London Assembly Housing Committee 

London City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk  

London  

SE1 2AA 

 

Sent via email  

 

26th August 2021 

 

Dear Ms Berry, 

 

Thank you for inviting RICS to participate in the meeting of the Housing Committee to discuss 

the issue of retrofitting. Following on from your letter dated 11th August, I have set out below 

some further information on the specific issues that you highlighted.  

 

On the issue of rent controls, we have expressed some concerns about how rent caps or 

controls could negatively impact on the market. In our RICS England manifesto, we have called 

on elected mayors and local authorities not to impose rent caps or significant rent controls as 

we believe that this has the potential to cause disruption in the private rented sector, possibly 

resulting in some landlords leaving the market and therefore depleting existing rental stock. 

We would urge against any measures that could make it harder for landlords, particularly 

‘accidental landlords’, to absorb the costs of funding vital retrofitting works.  

 

On the issue of skills capacity, RICS unfortunately does not hold data on the number of 

additional jobs that would be needed to carry out retrofitting at the national or London level. 

We recognise, however, that the scale of the challenge will be considerable. The UK’s 29 million 

homes will need to be low-carbon by 2050 to help us meet our national carbon emissions 

targets. We would therefore estimate that the number of professionals needed on a national 

level is likely to be in the region of hundreds of thousands, rather than tens of thousands. RICS 

professionals can play an important role in helping to address this national challenge too.  

 

Finally, I have enclosed a copy of the RICS Reducing Carbon in Your Home Guide. The guide 

sets out the practical steps that consumers can take to reduce their carbon footprint, lower 

their bills and make their homes more energy efficient. We would welcome any support that 

your committee is able to provide in endorsing or publicising this low carbon consumer guide 

more widely for the benefit of people living in London.  

Appendix 1

Page 47



 

  

2 
 

We have called for government to engage with industry to enhance public awareness of 

standards and professional competency-based advice and training in relation to energy 

efficiency retrofits and wider home improvement works, especially for heritage buildings which 

present a particular skills gap. We recognise that over a third of buildings are defined as 

traditional, so it is important that the retrofitting of such buildings takes a holistic approach 

which assesses how to make energy efficiency improvements in a sustainable way.  

 

I hope this reply is helpful and please do get in touch if you have any follow-up questions or 

comments.  

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Bradley Tully 

Senior Public Affairs Officer, RICS 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Len Duvall OBE AM 

Chair of the EU Exit Working Group 

 

(Sent by email) 2 June 2021 

 

Dear Sian, 

 

On 26 January 2021, the London Assembly EU Exit Working Group met for the final time to discuss the Brexit 

deal and its effect on London. The Working Group heard from a number of experts across a range of sectors.  

Many of the experts we heard from were in agreement that a no-deal would have been the worst-case scenario 

for their sector and for London, and the avoidance of that outcome was without doubt positive. It was also clear 

that, for many of the sectors we discussed, it is currently quite difficult to separate out the effects of the COVID-

19 pandemic from the emerging impact of the Brexit agreement.  

The Working Group wrote two letters to the Mayor (one on 17 February and one on 6 March) to capture some 

of the key issues arising from our meeting, and to make recommendations to him. The Working Group will now 

cease to operate, so we wanted to make you aware, as Chair of the Housing Committee, of some of the key 

issues related to your Committee’s remit which you may wish to integrate with your Committee’s work over the 

coming year. We have summarised below what we heard, our recommendations to the Mayor, and his 

responses, in the following areas: the construction sector, and issues related to understanding of pre-settled 

status (which could affect workers in the construction and housebuilding sector). 

 

Construction 

Graham Watts OBE, Chief Executive of the Construction Industry Council, explained to the Working Group that 

the relationship with Europe was particularly important to the construction industry in the UK, due to the supply 

of materials and labour. He highlighted that, even before the deal was reached on Christmas Eve, there were 

already serious supply chain issues facing the industry.  He also told the Working Group that there were ‘gaps’ in 

the deal, but that “we do not know what the impact of those gaps are going to be yet.”   

 

City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 
Tel: 020 7983 4000 

www.london.gov.uk 

 

Appendix 2

Page 49

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_letter_to_the_mayor_on_eu_citizens_-_17.02.21.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_-_eu_exit_letter_to_the_mayor_of_london_-_march_2021.pdf
http://www.london.gov.uk/


 

 

 

Graham Watts spoke to the Working Group about the long-term impact on the workforce due to changes to the 

immigration rules. Around 37 per cent of London’s construction workforce comes from EU countries. The new 

points-based immigration system is likely to exclude roles such as general labourers, as workers in these roles 

would be unlikely to reach requisite skills, salary or education thresholds to be eligible for a visa. This could slow 

down planned construction in the capital, if there are not enough workers to complete projects. It could also 

raise the cost of construction, if the balance of workforce demand and supply is altered.1 Mr Watts stated that 

European nationals comprised a very large proportion of some specific jobs in the construction industry, such as 

dry lining.   

Mr Watts emphasised that the construction industry is made up of many small and medium-sized enterprises 

(SMEs), which may need help in navigating and adapting to the changes in regulations.2 In particular, the sector 

will require assistance in understanding the rights and status of their European workforce ahead of 30 June. 

We recommended that the Mayor should work with industry leaders to ensure that London’s construction 

industry – and in particular its SMEs - are adequately informed of forthcoming changes to immigration rules. In 

reply to our recommendation, the Mayor pointed to the London Business Hub, which “includes specific guides 

on the construction sector and employing EU nationals”, and also explained that businesses can speak one-to-

one with an expert advisor through the Hub. 

 

Understanding of pre-settled status 

The Working Group was concerned to learn of potential issues surrounding a lack of understanding of pre-

settled status amongst authorities and employers. For example, Professor Charlotte O’Brien, Principal 

Investigator at the EU Rights and Brexit Hub at York Law School, relayed to the Working Group a case where a 

local authority told someone they were no longer eligible for housing when they discovered the person had pre-

settled status. The council believed that this meant that the person had no right of residency. Although this 

decision was later overturned with the help of Citizens Advice,3 in order to avoid further incidents such as this it is 

important that there is a clear understanding by relevant bodies of the rights conferred by pre-settled status. 

There should be communication with London businesses about the rights conferred by pre-settled status, 

particularly small and medium-sized enterprises who may have limited capacity to keep fully up-to-date with 

changing regulations. It should be made clear that someone with pre-settled status has the right to work in the 

UK.4  

We recommended to the Mayor that he should create a communications plan to ensure that local authorities, 

landlords and employers understand the rights conferred by pre-settled status. In his response, the Mayor stated 

that there were “no plans or provisions put in place by the Government to support Londoners with pre-settled 

status” and that his ongoing communication campaign “will aim to reach those affected by the temporary 

status, improving their understanding of the applications process and highlighting the importance of converting 

their pre-settled status into settled status”. He also reported that outreach work was being conducted through 

the London Business Hub to help small business owners support their staff, but stated that ultimately “the 

Government needs to do more to ensure the rights of European citizens in the UK”.  

 

 

1 The Impact of Brexit on the Construction Industry - an overview, Lexology 

2 Appendix 4 The Construction Industry, Transcript, 26 January 2021 

3 Transcript of the London Assembly EU Exit Working Group – Appendix 5, 26 January 2021 

4 Compare your rights: Settled and Pre-Settled Status, London.gov.uk 

Page 50

https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=54b0f799-dda2-4c67-a652-c05259fa7adc
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/londonassembly/meetings/documents/b20902/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%204%20-%20Construction%20Industry%20Tuesday%2026-Jan-2021%2010.00%20EU%20Exit%20Working%20Group.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/londonassembly/meetings/mgChooseMDocPack.aspx?ID=6947&SID=20903
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/european-londoners-hub/compare-your-rights-pre-settled-and-settled-status


 

 

 

I hope this information is helpful. If you would like to discuss anything contained within this letter further, please 

do contact the Working Group’s clerk Lauren Harvey (Lauren.Harvey@london.gov.uk) in first instance.  

 

Yours, 

 

 

Len Duvall OBE AM 

Chair of the EU Exit Working Group 

 

Page 51

mailto:Lauren.Harvey@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



 
 
Sian Berry AM
Chair of the Housing Committee 
City Hall 
110 The Queens Walk
London
SE1 2AA

Eddie Hughes MP
Minister for Rough Sleeping and Housing
 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London 
SW1P 4DF

Email: eddie.hughes@communities.gov.uk
 
www.gov.uk/mhclg
 
Our Ref: 11674222

15 July 2021

 
Dear Sian,
 
Thank you for your letter of 18 June to the Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP regarding section 21 
evictions and the renters reform bill. I am replying as this matter falls within my ministerial 
responsibilities. 

I welcome the support of the London Assembly Housing committee in abolishing section 21 of the 
Housing Act 1988. The Government is committed to introduce a package of reforms to deliver a 
better deal for renters, and a fairer and more effective rental market. A Renters’ Reform Bill will 
improve protections for tenants by abolishing Section 21 of the Housing Act 1988. This will 
enhance renters’ security and represents a generational change in the law that governs private 
renting, so it is only right that such legislation is balanced and considers the effect of the COVID-
19 pandemic to achieve the right outcomes for the rented sector. Any move to give tenants greater 
security of tenure must be balanced by ensuring that landlords are able to recover their properties 
where they have valid grounds to do so. Therefore, a White Paper detailing this reform package 
will be brought forward in the Autumn. 

As highlighted in your letter, the ban on bailiff enforcement was lifted on 31 May 2021, in line with 
the gradual easing of national restrictions. However, I want to make it clear that an eviction will not 
take place if the bailiff is made aware that a tenant, or anyone they live with, has coronavirus 
symptoms, has tested positive for COVID-19, is waiting for a test result, or has been instructed by 
the NHS to self-isolate. Additionally, tenants will also continue to benefit from longer notice 
periods, giving them more time to make alternative arrangements. As of 1 June, until at least 30 
September, notice periods will be 4 months except in the most egregious cases. Renters who are 
in genuine financial need will continue to be supported with living costs, including rent, through the 
unprecedented package of financial support we have put in place. 

We’ve specifically taken action to prevent people getting into financial hardship by helping 
businesses to pay salaries, with the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme extended to September, 
and boosting the welfare safety net by billions of pounds. 

Thank you for writing on this matter and for your ongoing support for this important work.

Yours ever,

EDDIE HUGHES MP

Appendix 3

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Sian Berry AM 

Chair of the Housing Committee 

 

Tom Copley 

Deputy Mayor, Housing and Residential Development  

Jules Pipe 

Deputy Mayor, Planning, Regeneration and Skills 

(Sent by email) 25 August 2021 

 

Dear Tom and Jules, 

 

Affordable Housing Monitor: Data requests 

 

The London Assembly Housing Committee will be publishing its annual ‘Affordable Housing 

Monitor’ in the coming months. The monitor tracks how the Mayor is delivering on his affordable 

homes commitments in London. To this end, I am writing to request any data you hold on the 

following: 

 

1) A summary of what floors homes delivered under the Affordable Homes Programme are on, 

by their bedroom number.  

2) Totals (as opposed to raw data) of the Affordable Homes Programme 2016-23 funding that 

has: 

• been spent on studio, 1 Bed, 2 Bed, 3 Bed, 4 Bed, 5 Bed and 6 Bed+ homes 

• been spent on each tenure of home (i.e. social and London Affordable Rent, 

affordable rent, and each intermediate tenure). 

3) Funding allocations and spending profile by each Affordable Housing Programme (i.e. the 

£4.82 billion for the 2016-23 programme and £4 billion for the 2021-26 programme). Please 

provide specific figures for how much funding has been allocated and how much remains 

unallocated. 

 

City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 
Tel: 020 7983 4000 

www.london.gov.uk 

 

Appendix 4

Page 55

http://www.london.gov.uk/


 

 

 

4) An update on capital and revenue grant allocations for community-led housing and for how 

many units at what tenure, price points and rooms per unit you have made to date. This 

would be an update on the following questions to the Mayor: 

https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2021/2782 and 

https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2021/2783  

a. We would also like to know projected delivery of community-led housing in future. 

5) Whether any starts to date under the Affordable Homes Programme 2016-23 were hostels, 

and if so, how many and in which years were they started. 

6) Any analysis you have done on the proportion of homes that have been delivered under 

section 106 in London and a breakdown of the tenure types. 

7) Any analysis that has been done on the number of existing homes in London for key workers. 

We would also like to know if you plan on producing data on homes for key workers in 

future, when planning guidance is implemented to give priority to key workers as an 

outcome of the Intermediate Housing consultation response. 

8) A time series of stock numbers and ownership, by tenure (Local Authority, Housing 

Association, for profit registered providers, private sector) and for affordable stock, the type 

(social, affordable, intermediate). NB: we are aware that the Regulator of Social Housing has 

now started to provide this information but only does so for registered providers and only at 

the England level. We are interested to know if the GLA has access to this information for 

London. 

9) A breakdown of data on the contribution to the net numbers in 8) of the loss of affordable 

housing stock in London, broken down by reason, for example, due to Right To Buy, 

development, demolition, auction, etc. 

  

The Committee would also like to know whether it will be made clear in future releases of the GLA’s 

affordable housing statistics, which Affordable Housing Programme (2016-2023 or 2021-2026) the 

data relates to. This, as well as the data above will enable us to effectively scrutinise progress on the 

Mayor’s affordable housing commitments.  

 

We understand that, for some of the above requests, the GLA does not hold this data, however we 

would like to request any analysis the GLA has undertaken on external data sources that might 

provide the information we are seeking. 

 

I would be grateful to receive a response by 17 September 2021 so that this data can be  

included in our annual monitor. 

 

Yours, 

 

 

Sian Berry AM 

Chair of the Housing Committee 

 

Page 56

https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2021/2782
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2021/2783


 

 
City Hall, London, SE1 2AA - london.gov.uk - mayor@london.gov.uk - 020 7983 4000  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Sian, 
 
Affordable Housing Monitor: Data requests 
 
Thank you for your letter of 25 August requesting a range of data to inform the Assembly’s annual 
‘Affordable Housing Monitor’ report. Please find responses to each request below. 
 
1. A summary of what floors homes delivered under the Affordable Homes Programme are 

on, by their bedroom number.  
 
 This data is not collected through the Affordable Homes Programme. 
 
2. Totals (as opposed to raw data) of the Affordable Homes Programme 2016-23 funding 

that has: 
• been spent on studio, 1 Bed, 2 Bed, 3 Bed, 4 Bed, 5 Bed and 6 Bed+ homes 
• been spent on each tenure of home (i.e. social and London Affordable Rent, 

affordable rent, and each intermediate tenure). 
 
 Data on total expenditure by number of bedrooms is not collected. Figures for actual expenditure 

per tenure is not available for schemes that went through the Approved Provider or Developer-led 
routes as funding for those routes was allocated at the scheme rather than unit level. Expenditure on 
schemes that went via the Negotiated route is shown in the table below. 

 
Tenure Units Total funding 
Social Rent (and LAR at benchmarks) 7,125 £663,457,199 
Other Affordable Rent 1,490 £72,843,551 
London Living Rent 1,027 £47,860,208 
Shared ownership 7,487 £286,673,924 
Other intermediate 498 £21,316,250 
Tenure to be confirmed 136 £4,536,000 
Total: 17,763 £1,096,687,132 

 

Sian Berry AM 
Chair of the Housing Committee 
Greater London Authority 
City Hall 
London     
  

21st  September 2021  

Appendix 5

Page 57



 

 
City Hall, London, SE1 2AA - london.gov.uk - mayor@london.gov.uk - 020 7983 4000  

 
3. Funding allocations and spending profile by each Affordable Housing Programme (i.e. the 

£4.82 billion for the 2016-23 programme and £4 billion for the 2021-26 programme). 
Please provide specific figures for how much funding has been allocated and how much 
remains unallocated. 

 
 The Mayor recently announced initial allocations of £3.465bn for delivery of 29,456 homes through 

the 2021-26 Affordable Homes Programme, leaving £535m available for continuous bidding. The 
precise spend profile for 2021-26 is subject to further discussions with MHCLG. As you will know we 
will provide a further update on the budgetary position at an appropriate juncture, but we will not 
put a detailed breakdown in the public domain at this point in order to minimise risks to the 
programme. 

 
 We are currently working closely with partners, after a period of focus on the 2021-26 programme, 

to drive additional allocations to the 2016-23 programme. These negotiations will have a significant 
impact on the spend profile for the remaining period of the programme and the figure of what 
remains unallocated.  

 
4. An update on capital and revenue grant allocations for community-led housing and for 

how many units at what tenure, price points and rooms per unit you have made to date. 
This would be an update on the following questions to the Mayor: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2021/2782 and  
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2021/2783   

 
 There has been £1.8m of early-stage revenue funding allocated on schemes with potential to deliver 

over 1,000 homes). Eight schemes (for 137 homes) have been allocated around £3m of advanced-
stage revenue funding. Capital funding allocations of £16.9m have been made for 148 homes (8 
affordable rent, 31 shared ownership and 109 discounted market sale) across six schemes, of which 
82 are included in the 137 figure above, for a net total of 203 homes across eleven schemes.  

 
 A range of indicative price points have been provided across the schemes, comprising social rent, 

shared ownership ranging from an initial share of 25% to 80% of market value and discounted sale 
ranging from 55% to 80% of market value. For the four schemes (comprising 88 homes) for which 
the number of bedrooms has been agreed, 25 homes are one bedroom, 40 are two bedrooms, 20 are 
three bedrooms and 3 are four bedrooms.  

 
 
5. Whether any starts to date under the Affordable Homes Programme 2016-23 were 

hostels, and if so, how many and in which years were they started. 
 
 No starts of hostel accommodation have been recorded in the 2016-23 AHP. All homes delivered are 

recorded as flats, maisonettes, houses or bungalows.  
 
6. Any analysis you have done on the proportion of homes that have been delivered under 

section 106 in London and a breakdown of the tenure types. 
 
 Data on starts and completions by tenure according to their section 106 status is available from 

MHCLG’s affordable housing statistics (live table 1011 from  
 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-affordable-housing-supply). 
 

Page 58



 

 
City Hall, London, SE1 2AA - london.gov.uk - mayor@london.gov.uk - 020 7983 4000  

7. Any analysis that has been done on the number of existing homes in London for key 
workers. We would also like to know if you plan on producing data on homes for key 
workers in future, when planning guidance is implemented to give priority to key workers 
as an outcome of the Intermediate Housing consultation response. 

 
 Estimates of the number of households in London that contain key workers split by tenure were 

published in the 2020 Housing in London report (see part 6.12 here 
 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/housing_in_london_2020_v2.pdf). Data on the 

number of existing homes specifically earmarked for key workers is not available.  
 
 We do not plan to implement London-specific monitoring on the occupations and key workers status 

of household members who move into intermediate homes, as many providers work both in London 
and elsewhere in the country. However, GLA officers are discussing with MHCLG how national data 
capture requirements for the sector could be strengthened to provide consistent and meaningful 
data on the occupation of those moving into intermediate homes. 

 
 London Planning Guidance will be updated in due course to reflect the GLA’s commitment to guide 

local authorities on how best to prioritise key workers within the allocation of intermediate homes. 
We will ask local authorities to report to the GLA where they have adopted and/or amended the 
GLA’s recommended list of key workers in local policy. 

 
8. A time series of stock numbers and ownership, by tenure (Local Authority, Housing 

Association, for profit registered providers, private sector) and for affordable stock, the 
type (social, affordable, intermediate). NB: we are aware that the Regulator of Social 
Housing has now started to provide this information but only does so for registered 
providers and only at the England level. We are interested to know if the GLA has access 
to this information for London. 

 
 Headline figures on the number of homes owned by councils and housing associations are available 

from MHCLG (https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-
stock-including-vacants).  

 
 Data on both council and Registered Provider stock by broad tenure at local authority level can be 

found in the 'RP look-up tool' published by the Regulator for Social Housing 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/registered-provider-social-housing-stock-and-rents-
in-england-2019-to-2020). 

 
9. A breakdown of data on the contribution to the net numbers in 8) of the loss of 

affordable housing stock in London, broken down by reason, for example, due to Right To 
Buy, development, demolition, auction, etc. 

 
 There is no single source for data on contributions to changes in affordable housing stock in 

London.  
 
 The Regulator provides data on RP sales in the 'PRP Geographic look-up tool' here 
 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/private-registered-provider-social-housing-stock-and-

rents-in-england-2019-to-2020 , and there is further data on demolitions at local authority level in 
the 'Stock information by LA' sheet of the 'PRP data release' on the same page.  

 
 Changes in local authority stock are reported by MHCLG in its Local Authority Housing Data release, 

specifically sheets A and B of the first file here https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-
sets/local-authority-housing-statistics-data-returns-for-2019-to-2020. 

 
 Data on completions of new council and housing association homes can be extracted from the 

London Development Database for 2004/05 to 2018/19 (see data here 
 https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/planning-permissions-on-the-london-development-database--

ldd-), and will be available for future years from the Planning London Datahub. 

Page 59



 

 
City Hall, London, SE1 2AA - london.gov.uk - mayor@london.gov.uk - 020 7983 4000  

 
Finally, you asked whether future releases of the GLA’s Affordable Housing Statistics could distinguish 
between the 2016-23 and 2021-26 Affordable Homes Programme. Officers need to consider this request in 
more detail, and we will let you know the outcome.  
 
Yours sincerely, 

       
 
Tom Copley     Jules Pipe 
Deputy Mayor     Deputy Mayor 
Housing and Residential Development  Planning, Regeneration and Skills 
 

Page 60



   
    
  

  

   

  

  

  

  

 City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London, SE1 2AA ♦ mayor@london.gov.uk ♦ london.gov.uk ♦ 020 7983 
4000 

 

Dear Sian, 
 
Thank you for your letter following my attendance of the London Assembly’s Housing 
Committee on 20 July 2021. In your letter of 11 August, you sought further clarity on 
the Mayor’s retrofit programmes and associated progress. I apologise for the lateness 
of this reply. 
 
In appendix 1 below, I have outlined responses to your enquiries, notably:  
 
current retrofitting programmes planned for the current Mayoral term and an 
assessment of the total number of homes within the programmes to be retrofitted; 
  
how the figures for the Innovation Partnership of a £10 billion market and 150,000 
jobs were derived; 
 
whether any funding for retrofitting could be sought from within the unallocated 
grant from the Affordable Homes Programme; and, 
 
an update on the progress made against the Retrofit Accelerator aims. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Shirley Rodrigues 
Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy 

Sian Berry AM 
Chair of the Housing Committee 
London Assembly 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 
 
Sent via email 
 

 
 
Date: Friday 8 October 2021 

Appendix 6

Page 61



 

 
 

 

 
 

 
Appendix 1 

 
Q: Details of the current retrofitting programmes planned for the current 
Mayoral term and an assessment of the total number of homes within the 
programmes to be retrofitted. 
 
A: The Mayor has four flagship retrofitting programmes: 
 
Retrofit Accelerator – Homes (RA-H)1 programme provides London 
boroughs and housing associations with the technical expertise they need to 
kick-start ‘whole-house’ retrofit projects across the capital. This transformative 
whole-house approach also helps build the supply chain and business case to 
accelerate the retrofit revolution for private homes. The programme is on 
track to deliver its targets by mid 2022, at which point 50 homes will have 
received a full deep retrofit, and 1,678 homes will be in contract to be 
retrofitted, saving 4,161 tonnes of CO2. The recently launched Innovation 
Partnership is part of the RA-H toolkit and will join-up UK building firms with 
social housing providers through each stage of the retrofit.  In August 2021, the 
BEIS-backed Social Housing Retrofit Accelerator (SHRA)2 was launched. The 
SHRA builds on RA-H to support social housing providers across England to 
successfully bid into the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund.  

 
Warmer Homes3 programme provides free heating, insulation and ventilation 
improvements for low income Londoners who own their own homes or rent 
privately. 1,157 households were supported in first phase (January 2018 to 
September 2019). A further 864 households are being supported during 
the current second phase, by the end of 2021. Recently, delivery has been 
impeded by lockdowns and significant supply chain problems, nonetheless, a 
total 1,596 households have been retrofitted to date. We have secured 
£9.45m additional funding from national government to date to deliver deeper 
retrofits with renewable heating. 
 
Warmer Homes Advice Service4 is a pan-London fuel poverty referral 
network providing free local energy advice services for vulnerable Londoners 
and those on low incomes. 9,905 households have been supported to date 
(February 2018 to April 2021), mainly through advice and energy saving 
measures. New grant agreements have been drawn up with boroughs which 
will lead to over 2,500 further households being supported by March 2022. 
 

 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/retrofit-accelerator-homes 
2 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/retrofit-accelerator-homes/social-housing-

retrofit-accelerator 
3 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing-and-land/improving-quality/warmer-homes 
4 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/warmer-homes-advice-service 

 

Page 62



 

 
 

 

Solar Together London5 is a group-buying programme that enables 
Londoners to install solar panels on their homes at an affordable price. This 
year, it is in its fourth phase and 2,760 households have accepted the offer of 
solar PV (with 800 also opting for battery storage). Over the four phases of 
Solar together London since 2018, 1,000 PV installations have been delivered 
in total. Through this innovative scheme we have delivered Londoners around 
a third off the cost of installing solar panels.  
 
 
Q: Details of how the figures for the Innovation Partnership of a £10 billion 
market and 150,000 jobs were derived: 
 

A: These figures were arrived at through extensive modelling by the external Retrofit 

Accelerator Programme Delivery Unit (made up on industry experts), which 

considered the potential, serviceable deep-retrofit market within London and the UK. 

As part of this, assumptions were made on how many building firms and social 

housing providers might commit to using the new Partnership and the level of 

investment they might make over a 10-year period (i.e. to 2030). This analysis was 

tested with the supply chain during supplier engagement activity during the OJEU-

compliant competitive procurement process that established the Innovation 

Partnership.    

The Innovation Partnership links housing providers and building firms together so 

they can work through and fund each stage of retrofit together – from R&D and 

prototyping through to large-scale delivery.    

Housing providers will themselves invest including through funds that would have 

been spent on the regular asset management of old, inefficient properties. Builders 

will also invest and offer fair prices, so they can test and learn from retrofit delivery, 

and in doing so, secure their place in a new market. Identifying approaches to raise 

private sector finance alongside housing provider funds will be important to secure 

that opportunity. We will need future government funding for social housing (i.e. the 

Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund) to support deep, whole-house retrofit so it 

can be used for Innovation Partnership projects.  

For the first wave which involves seven London boroughs, we are expecting at least 

£100m of investment. This initial investment was calculated based on the Innovation 

Partnership Contract Value for seven boroughs each retrofitting nearly 3,000 homes 

through the Partnership. We continue to engage with the remaining 26 London 

boroughs and if all invest, we could see retrofit works totalling around £5 billion in 

London alone, over this decade. The remaining £5 billion is the potential investment 

outside of London.  

This programme should help develop around 150,000 jobs over the decade. This 

has been calculated based on the potential market value, using a variety of toolkits 

 
5 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/solar-together-london 

Page 63



 

 
 

 

including those created by our external Retrofit Accelerator Programme Delivery Unit 

and C40.  

 

Q: Whether any funding for retrofitting could be sought from within the 
unallocated grant from the Affordable Homes Programme. 
 
A: The terms of the Affordable Homes Programmes (AHP) are agreed with the 

Secretary of State and require the Programme to meet significant affordable housing 

targets in London. Any unallocated AHP grant must be used to deliver new 

affordable housing in London and therefore could not be used to fund retrofit. 

 
 
Q: An update on the progress made against the Retrofit Accelerator aims. 
 
As noted above, the Retrofit Accelerator – Homes (RA-H)6 is on track to deliver 

its targets by mid 2022, at which point 50 homes will have received a full deep 

retrofit, and 1,678 homes will be in contract to be retrofitted, saving 4,161 

tonnes of CO2. The recently launched Innovation Partnership is part of the toolkit 

and joins up UK building firms with social housing providers through each stage of 

the retrofit. 

Unlike previous programmes such as RE:NEW (which installed small, ‘light’ 
measures such as draft proofing and LED bulbs), the RA-H focusses on much 
deeper levels of retrofit (e.g. installing renewable heating, solar PV, battery 
storage, solid wall insulation and smart controls simultaneously), which will 
substantively address some of the key drivers of fuel poverty. This shift to 
deeper interventions in a smaller number of homes (rather than lighter 
interventions across many), has now been reflected in government 
programmes. The current government funding, through programmes such as 
the Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery and Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund now follow the Mayor’s approach. This is the reason 
BEIS funded the GLA to support social housing providers across the country 
through the new Social Housing Retrofit Accelerator.  

A key principle of the RA-H is around transforming the way London retrofits its 
ageing and energy-inefficient housing to create warm, affordable and ultra-low 
carbon homes. All homes that will be retrofitted under this programme will 
demonstrate an average of 60% reduction in CO2 compared to as little as 
1-5% reduction achieved through standard retrofitting approaches, 
including through predecessor schemes run by previous administrations. 

To accelerate the levels of homes retrofitted in London we are working with 
London Councils on action on retrofit culminating in a Retrofit Summit in Spring 
2022. 

 
6 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/retrofit-accelerator-homes 

Page 64



 

 
 

 

Separately, it is worth noting that the Mayor also operates the Retrofit 
Accelerator – Workplaces (RA-W) and the Local Energy Accelerator (LEA) 
which have different remits including workplaces retrofit and clean, local energy 
projects.  

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

v1/2021 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority 

Report to: Housing Committee 

Report of:   Executive Director of Secretariat 

Date: 19 October 2021 

Public 
Access: 

This report will be considered in public 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report outlines recent action taken by the Chair of the Housing Committee in accordance with 

the delegated authority granted by the Housing Committee.  

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chair of the Housing Committee 

under delegated authority, following consultation with party Group Lead Members, 

namely to agree the letters on retrofitting London’s housing stock to the Mayor and the 

Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, as attached at  

Appendices 1 and 2. 

3. Background 

3.1 At its meeting on 20 July 2021, the Committee delegated authority to the Chair, in consultation with 

the party Group Lead Members, to agree any output from the discussion on the challenges of 

retrofitting in London.  

3.2 Following consultation with the party Group Lead Members, the Chair exercised the above 

delegation of authority to agree letters on retrofitting London’s homes to the Mayor of London and 

the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 

  

Page 67

Agenda Item 5

http://www.london.gov.uk/


  

4. Issues for Consideration  

4.1 Following consultation with the party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed the letters to the 

Mayor (Appendix 1) and to the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

(Appendix 2) on 6 October 2021. 

4.2 The Committee is recommended to note the letters and the action taken under delegated authority. 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

6. Financial Implications 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Letter to the Mayor, 6 October 2021 

Appendix 2 – Letter to the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 6 October 2021   

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: 

Member Delegated Authority Form 1308 [Retrofitting London’s Homes Letters] 

Contact Information 

Contact Officer: Diane Richards, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 07925 353478 

E-mail:  diane.richards@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 68

mailto:diane.richards@london.gov.uk


 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Sian Berry AM Chair of the Housing Committee  

 

Sadiq Khan 

Mayor of London 

(Sent by email)  

 

  

 6 October 2021 

 

Dear Sadiq,  

 

I am writing to you on behalf of the London Assembly Housing Committee regarding our recent 

investigation into retrofitting London’s housing stock. To meet your ambitious target of making 

London a zero carbon city by 2030, you will understand the importance of taking action to 

decarbonise all of London’s 3.5 million homes. 

 

To support our investigation, we held a meeting on 20 July 2021 with a range of experts to discuss 

the structural challenges, costs and skills required to retrofit all of London’s homes. Guests at our 

meeting included: Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy), James Hardy 

(Head of Energy for the GLA), Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and 

Vice Chair of the g320), Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden in the 

London Borough of Camden) and Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer from the Royal 

Institution of Chartered Surveyors). I am writing to share with you our key findings and 

recommendations. Please refer to Appendix A of this letter for a full list of our recommendations. 

 

The Committee has also written to the Secretary of State for Levelling up, Housing and 

Communities, with a range of recommendations for the Government. I urge you to back the 

Committee’s recommendations put forward both in this letter and those presented to the Secretary 

of State (see Appendix B for a list of these recommendations).  

 

 

City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 
Tel: 020 7983 4000 

www.london.gov.uk 

 

Appendix 1

Page 69

http://www.london.gov.uk/


 

 

 

The costs of retrofitting 

 

At our meeting, we heard from the Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy, Shirley Rodrigues, 

who outlined the scale of the challenge facing London as it attempts to decarbonise its housing 

stock. We were informed that the entirety of London’s 3.5 million homes needed some form of work 

to reduce emissions, ranging from whole house retrofits to adapting energy infrastructure. The 

Deputy Mayor stated that £61 billion has been estimated as the cost of delivering infrastructure 

improvements in line with your 1.5C Compatible Climate Action Plan for London to become carbon 

neutral by 2050. To meet your 2030 target, we were told costs may be higher and that modelling for 

this was being updated. I would be grateful if you could provide details of this modelling to 

the Committee once it has been completed. 

 

We were also told that despite the aspirations of your 2021 manifesto to retrofit millions of homes, 

there are tangible barriers which are likely to impact the pace and scale at which retrofitting can be 

delivered.1 Specifically, issues concerning the lack of funding, inadequacies within the supply chain 

and the complexity of London’s housing infrastructure. 

 

While we were pleased to hear that some steps have already been taken to address these challenges, 

including the Innovation Partnership aimed at facilitating greater collaboration between local 

government, housing associations and developers, we feel that more can be done to accelerate a 

wide-scale retrofitting programme in London and to demonstrate real leadership in confronting the 

threat of climate change.  

 

It is particularly disappointing that, under your Retrofit Accelerator Programme, just 1,600 homes 

will be retrofitted by August 2022. While we understand the Retrofit Accelerator is a successor 

programme and has a greater emphasis on deep home retrofit (involving greater carbon savings per 

household retrofit), it remains that the number of homes to be delivered compares unfavourably 

with previous programmes, for example the retrofitting of 130,000 homes between 2009 and 2016 

under the RE:NEW programme,2 and of 660 public sector buildings in the same period under the 

RE:FIT programme.3 

 

We appreciate that to achieve the whole of your retrofitting ambitions, greater support from central 

Government may be required, but we strongly believe there are actions that you, as Mayor, can take 

to better support retrofitting in London. Below are some key actions that the Committee would like 

to see you take forward in light of our investigation. 

 

Heritage and Conservation  

 

The Committee heard from Susan French, Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and 

Vice Chair of the g320, a group of small and medium housing associations, who stated that a key 

challenge was retrofitting listed buildings, which are often concentrated in conservation areas. It is 

often not possible to undertake extensive works on these buildings, in which case emissions need to 

be offset through other measures. Listed buildings are not as energy efficient as new builds and 

 

1 Sadiq Khan, 2021 manifesto 

2 RE:NEW success, GLA 

3 RE:FIT Programme cuts carbon emissions from London’s public buildings, C40 Cities, June 2017 

Page 70

https://sadiq.london/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Sadiq-for-London-Manifesto-.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/renew-0/renew-success
https://www.c40.org/case_studies/re-fit-programme-cuts-carbon-emissions-from-london-s-public-buildings


 

 

 

need to be drastically upgraded to improve their energy performance in order for the UK to meet its 

climate obligations. There is not always a conflict, but where there is, a better balance should be 

struck between decarbonisation and preserving these areas and buildings without change. The 

Committee was told that to do this, dialogue will have to be started on planning standards and 

where compromises could be made within heritage properties to improve their energy efficiency. For 

example, solar panels offer an opportunity to offset emissions without making permanent, structural 

changes to a building. 

 

Closely linked to this is public perception of risk and delay; homeowners are sometimes reluctant to 

carry out work over concerns that they will not be granted planning permission to do so. The 

Committee was told that the message being conveyed is: “heritage trumps everything else.”  

 

London is home to many historically important buildings and homes, and it is important that these 

are decarbonised to not only improve energy efficiency but also ensure they remain viable for the 

future. We also note that one of your manifesto pledges was to continue to support London as a 

solar energy city and help make solar power more affordable and accessible for Londoners.4 

 

You previously told the London Assembly that some local authorities have removed permitted 

development rights for solar panels due to concerns over visual impact. This means that, in these 

localities, planning permission is required for solar installation. You also informed us that as part of 

your Solar Action Plan, your officers would engage with boroughs to map the variance of planning 

approaches and help achieve consistency, where possible, across London.5 Subsequently, you 

informed us that you have commissioned work to gather evidence and insights on the challenges 

and opportunities that existing planning regulations present to retrofitting residential properties 

(including installation of solar PV) in London, with recommendations due at the end of this year.6 

 

We recommend: a) that you inform the Committee of the outcome of your mapping 

exercise and commissioned review of planning issues with respect to retrofit and solar 

energy, b) that you advise whether there are any opportunities for you to use your 

planning powers to make it easier to secure consent for installation of solar panels across 

more areas of London and help Londoners to understand the rules governing installation 

of solar panels for listed buildings and conservation areas, and c) that this work results in 

more consistent conservation policies within boroughs to be as supportive as possible of 

retrofit and renewable energy. 

 

ECO Spending 

 

At our meeting, the Deputy Mayor highlighted that Government funding programmes to support 

retrofitting such as the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) are in place to help local authorities 

access vital resources for retrofitting programmes. However, it was brought to our attention that the 

existing ECO spending arrangement fails to meet the needs of Londoners. As you have highlighted, 

Londoners have paid £82.3 million annually to the ECO programme, while £27.3 million has been 

 

4 Sadiq Khan, 2021 manifesto 

5 MQT, Fitting solar panels in conservation areas, 16 May 2019 

6 MQT, Solar Panel Installation 1, 13 September 2021 

 

Page 71

https://sadiq.london/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Sadiq-for-London-Manifesto-.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2019/8863
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2021/3453


 

 

 

spent in return, a shortfall of £55 million every year.7 We are aware that lobbying efforts have been 

conducted to ensure London receives a greater share of ECO spending.8 

 

We recommend that you continue to lobby for ECO spending which better matches what 

Londoners pay for energy and push the Government to ensure that London receives fair 

financial support or sufficient powers to raise this finance itself. 

 

Private Rented Sector 

 

At our Committee meeting, we heard about the importance of increasing the rates of retrofit in the 

private rented sector. This is particularly important for London, where a substantial population rent 

privately. Improvements in this sector will enable London to better meet its ambitions to adapt its 

housing stock to meet environmental targets, and it may also mean that those living in the private 

rented sector will pay less for energy in the future. We have recommended that Government should 

raise the landlord cost cap to £10,000 to increase the extent of works private sector landlords are 

undertaking to meet mandatory minimum energy efficiency standards, however we would also like to 

see action at a London level to identify where further improvements could be made. 

 

We recommend that you bring together private sector landlords and tenants to look at 

barriers to retrofit and the ways in which Government or local government action could 

overcome them.  

  

Affordable Homes 

 

At our Committee meeting, questions were raised as to whether homes currently being developed 

under the Affordable Homes Programme will require retrofitting in the future, to enable them to 

meet net zero carbon status. For both the 2016-23 and 2021-26 Affordable Homes Programmes can 

you confirm a) the number of starts, b) how many of those starts will deliver zero-carbon on-site c) 

the carbon offsetting provided for those starts that will not deliver zero-carbon on-site d) whether 

homes that are not currently zero-carbon have been built with consideration of the need for 

potential retrofit in future, for example by making them ready to take advantage of future 

improvements in technology.  

 

We welcome the range of sustainability commitments in the new Affordable Homes Programme 

2021-26, including that all developments of 10+ homes must be net zero-carbon. As allocations 

have now been made for the next five years, please advise how many homes will not meet 

these commitments, for example developments of less than 10 homes or because they 

were otherwise negotiated? Homes developed under the Affordable Homes Programme 2016-23 

were required to meet previous London Plan requirements. We would welcome your advice on 

whether any homes from either the 2016-23 or the 2021-26 Affordable Homes Programme 

will require retrofit in future and a timescale for this.  

 

 

7 Mayor’s written evidence to the Environmental Audit Committee inquiry into energy efficiency of existing homes, July 

2020 

8 MQT, ECO funding, 13 September 2019 

Page 72

https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/8722/html/#_ftn1
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/8722/html/#_ftn1
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2019/17605?fbclid=IwAR1SUd8nX_i_sUCVPxYNTGD6wM-SWdfVKckacp7EtFQFLkqMhay-XTqHLEk


 

 

 

There are real opportunities for London to make the case for support to implement a major 

programme of retrofitting. Given the unique nature of the London housing stock and the sheer scale 

of potential demand, this offers ample opportunity to support the development of a vital new 

market that will generate substantial economic gains, reduce energy costs for Londoners and 

demonstrate London’s leadership in tackling the climate crisis. We hope you take on board and 

pursue the recommendations outlined in this letter and that we can engage constructively together 

going forward as we look to make retrofitting accessible for every Londoner.  

 

I would be grateful for a response to this letter by 20 October 2021. 

 

Yours, 

 

 

Sian Berry AM 

Chair of the Housing Committee 

 

  

Page 73



 

 

 

Appendix A: The London Assembly Housing Committee’s recommendations to the 
Mayor on retrofitting London’s homes. 

1. We recommend: a) that you inform the Committee of the outcome of your mapping 

exercise and commissioned review of planning issues with respect to retrofit and 

solar energy, b) that you advise whether there are any opportunities for you to use 

your planning powers to make it easier to secure consent for installation of solar 

panels across more areas of London and help Londoners to understand the rules 

governing installation of solar panels for listed buildings and conservation areas, 

and c) that this work results in more consistent conservation policies within 

boroughs to be as supportive as possible of retrofit and renewable energy. 

 

2. We recommend that you continue to lobby for ECO spending which better matches 

what Londoners pay for energy and push the Government to ensure that London 

receives fair financial support or sufficient powers to raise this finance itself. 

 

3. We recommend that you bring together private sector landlords and tenants to 

look at barriers to retrofit and the ways in which Government or local government 

action could overcome them. 

 

Appendix B: The London Assembly Housing Committee’s recommendations to the 
Government on retrofitting London’s homes. 

1. London should get its fair share of all retrofit spending, particularly ECO funding, 

or sufficient powers to raise finance itself. The Government should also outline 

what proportion of the Shared Prosperity Fund London will receive and ensure that 

this, at the very least, matches what Londoners pay for energy.  

 

2. The Government should consider implementing multi-year, user-friendly funding 

schemes. This would increase sector and homeowner confidence and give 

contractors and providers longer-term certainty on delivery of programmes.  

 

3. The Government should implement its proposal to raise the landlord cost cap to 

£10,000 to increase the extent of works private sector landlords are undertaking to 

meet mandatory minimum energy efficiency standards.  

 

4. The new Decent Homes Standard should mandate minimum energy efficiency 

standards, with a view to achieving net zero emissions at least in line with the 

Government’s 2050 target. 

 

5. The Government should ensure that cladding remediation does not negatively 

impact on retrofitting work and could potentially enable both areas of work to be 

carried out at the same time. 

 

 

Page 74



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Sian Berry AM  

Chair of the Housing Committee  

 

The Rt Hon Michael Gove MP 

Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

(Sent by email) 

 

cc: The Rt Hon Greg Hands MP 

Minister for Energy, Clean Growth and Climate Change  

Helen Whately MP 

Exchequer Secretary to the Treasury  

 

  

 6 October 2021 

 

Dear Secretary of State,  

 

Congratulations on your appointment as Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 

Communities.  

 

I look forward to engaging with you constructively over the coming months to ensure the housing 

needs of Londoners are being met, with an emphasis on affordability, increasing housing provision 

of all kinds, and increasing the number of zero carbon and carbon neutral homes across London.  

 

To that end, I would be grateful if you would meet with me at your earliest convenience to discuss 

these issues as well as the Housing Committee’s most recent investigation, which I will detail below.  

 

On 20 July 2021, the Housing Committee held a meeting investigating what is needed to cut 

emissions from London’s existing homes to achieve carbon neutrality. The Committee heard from a 

range of experts on the scale of the challenge, the barriers and the costs likely to be associated with 

 

City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 
Tel: 020 7983 4000 

www.london.gov.uk 

 

Appendix 2

Page 75

http://www.london.gov.uk/


 

 

 

any major programme of retrofitting in London. We invited the following guests to our Committee 

meeting: Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy), James Hardy (Head of 

Energy for the GLA), Susan French (Chief Executive of Barnsbury Housing Association and Vice Chair 

of the g320), Councillor Adam Harrison (Cabinet member for a sustainable Camden in the London 

Borough of Camden) and Bradley Tully (Senior Public Affairs Officer from the Royal Institution of 

Chartered Surveyors). Our investigation focused specifically on funding, the skills gap and quality 

assurance.  

 

As you know, retrofitting homes is vital to achieving the UK’s environmental targets — London’s 3.5 

million homes account for one third of the city’s greenhouse gas emissions alone.1 There are a 

number of upcoming opportunities for the UK to show leadership on this front, with COP26 

approaching, a multi-year Comprehensive Spending Review and the much-anticipated Planning Bill. I 

therefore want to use this opportunity to highlight key findings and recommendations from our 

investigation. Please refer to Appendix A of this letter for a full list of our recommendations. 

 

Costs of retrofitting  

 

One of the most significant barriers to decarbonising the UK’s housing stock is determining the 

exact costs of retrofitting work. Various external factors can influence the cost, including changes in 

energy efficiency policy, and the demand and supply of technology and labour. Special 

considerations and more complex work, which are more likely to be required in older homes, can also 

add to the costs.  

 

The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) estimated in 2019 that across 

the UK, anywhere between £35 and £65 billion will be needed by 2035 to bring every home up to 

standard.2 Regional variations such as higher wages in London and the South East mean that costs 

could be even higher in these areas. The Mayor’s 1.5C Compatible Climate Action Plan highlights the 

actions needed to be taken for London to become carbon neutral by 2050.3 At our Committee 

meeting in July, the Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy, Shirley Rodrigues told us that 

London needs to spend £61 billion to tackle our infrastructure to achieve the actions in the Plan. 

This is because all of London’s 3.5 million existing homes will need some form of retrofit. London 

also has a complicated system of housing infrastructure, consisting largely of flats, solid walls and 

conservation areas that make it difficult to retrofit.  

 

We heard from experts at our meeting that funding spent in London does not match these 

challenges. The Deputy Mayor stated that London does not receive its fair share of Energy Company 

Obligation (ECO) funding. In fact, according to the Mayor, Londoners have paid £82.3 million 

annually to the ECO programme, while £27.3 million has been spent, a shortfall of £55 million every 

year.4 Other guests highlighted the need for the Government to establish retrofitting as a national 

infrastructure priority. Guests also expressed uncertainty around what would replace existing funds, 

 

1 GLA, February 2020 

2 BEIS Committee, Energy efficiency: building towards net zero: Government Response to the Committee’s Twenty-First 

Report of Session 2017–19, 2019 

3 Sadiq Khan, Zero carbon London: A 1.5ºC compatible plan, December 2018 

4 Mayor’s written evidence to the Environmental Audit Committee inquiry into energy efficiency of existing homes, July 

2020 

Page 76

https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-introduces-programme-to-update-london-homes
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201919/cmselect/cmbeis/124/12403.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201919/cmselect/cmbeis/124/12403.htm
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/1.5_action_plan_amended.pdf
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/8722/html/#_ftn1
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/8722/html/#_ftn1


 

 

 

namely the European Regional Development Fund and the European Social Fund under which 

London received €791 million in the last round.5 It is our understanding that this funding will be 

replaced and at least matched by the Shared Prosperity Fund, but it is not yet clear what proportion 

of this London will receive. 

 

In order to allow London to deliver retrofitting at the pace and scale to meet the UK’s climate 

ambitions, the Housing Committee recommends: 

 

1. London should get its fair share of all retrofit spending, particularly ECO funding, 

or sufficient powers to raise finance itself. The Government should also outline 

what proportion of the Shared Prosperity Fund London will receive and ensure that 

this, at the very least, matches what Londoners pay for energy.  

 

Funding  

 

Another key concern highlighted at our Committee meeting is the ‘stop and start’ nature of funding. 

Several experts expressed concern that intermittent funding streams such as the Green Homes Grant 

have caused significant issues for installers. Councillor Adam Harrison, Cabinet member for a 

sustainable Camden in the London Borough of Camden stated that contractors and potential 

providers had been ‘shaken’ by this lack of certainty and it had: “harmed confidence among the 

contractors who need to be investing in their own workforce, who need to be gaining the quality 

accreditations that are needed.” The Deputy Mayor, Shirley Rodrigues contended that a more user-

friendly scheme should be introduced, alongside a premium for contractors carrying out work in 

cities so they are not unfairly disadvantaged.  

 

Presently, standards apply so that private landlords must enter a new tenancy agreement with 

minimum energy efficiency in place, unless exemptions apply. One exemption is the ‘cost cap’ which 

means that landlords are exempt from making energy efficiency improvements costing more than 

£3,500. To further incentivise homeowners, the Deputy Mayor informed the Committee that the 

Mayor supports the Government’s proposals to increase the cost cap for private landlords to 

£10,000. This would be a better reflection of the costs required to retrofit homes in London. The 

Committee supports this increase and awaits the Government’s response to the consultation on this 

matter.  

 

The Housing Committee believes that improving access to funding, creating incentives and providing 

funding certainty are central to encouraging greater uptake of retrofitting opportunities. We 

therefore recommend:  

 

2. The Government should consider implementing multi-year, user-friendly funding 

schemes. This would increase sector and homeowner confidence and give 

contractors and providers longer-term certainty on delivery of programmes.  

 

3. The Government should implement its proposal to raise the landlord cost cap to 

£10,000 to increase the extent of works private sector landlords are undertaking to 

meet mandatory minimum energy efficiency standards.  

 

5 Question to the Mayor, 17 December 2014 

Page 77

https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2014/5541


 

 

 

 

Decent Homes Standard  

 

Around 28 per cent of London’s homes are privately rented, compared with 18 per cent across 

England, with around one in five of these below the Decent Homes Standard – higher than in any 

other tenure.6  This tenure is also among the least energy efficient in England.7 At our meeting, the 

Committee heard that the Decent Homes Standard does not currently mandate a net zero approach 

to homes. We welcome the commitment in the Government’s Social Housing White Paper to review 

the Decent Homes Standard and consider how it can better support decarbonisation. To this end, we 

recommend that:  

 

4. The new Decent Homes Standard should mandate minimum energy efficiency 

standards, with a view to achieving net zero emissions at least in line with the 

Government’s 2050 target. 

 

Cladding remediation  

 

Four years on from the Grenfell Tower disaster, cladding remains a significant issue. As the process 

of cladding remediation is underway, the Committee heard how this programme provides an 

opportunity to carry out retrofitting alongside this work, particularly the installation of solar panels. 

 

The housing challenges for local authorities are not insignificant: on top of remediation work, 

councils also have to ensure the delivery of affordable housing. Carrying out retrofitting is therefore 

an additional, and significant cost for local authorities, which can impact other activities from a 

funding and resource perspective. Providing retrofitting work alongside cladding remediation could 

be a way to reduce this cost burden. This will ensure that buildings are not only safe, but also 

sustainable in the longer-term. The Housing Committee therefore recommends:  

 

5. The Government should ensure that cladding remediation does not negatively 

impact on retrofitting work and could potentially enable both areas of work to be 

carried out at the same time. 

 

Both Government and industry need to take bold and decisive action if the UK is to meet its climate 

ambitions. These ambitions need to be matched by adequate funding for a mass programme of 

retrofitting homes across the country. It is the Committee’s hope that the recommendations outlined 

in this letter are taken forward, to ensure that the environment is placed at the heart of our housing, 

planning and construction industries nationwide. The Committee is also writing to the Mayor of 

London, Sadiq Khan, to share the Committee’s findings and urge him to take on additional 

leadership in this area (please refer to Appendix B for a list of recommendations).  

 

Since it is also crucial that the Government adopt a joined-up approach to delivering the 

decarbonisation of the UK’s housing stock, I have also copied this letter to the new Minister for 

Energy, Clean Growth and Climate Change, Greg Hands MP and the new Exchequer Secretary to the 

Treasury, Helen Whately MP.  

 

6 GLA, Housing in London 2020,   

7 BEIS, Improving the Energy Performance of Privately Rented Homes in England and Wales, 8 January 2021 

Page 78

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/housing_in_london_2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/946175/prs-consultation-2020.pdf


 

 

 

 

While I understand this will be a busy time for you as you settle into a new department, the 

Committee would welcome a response to our recommendations and would be grateful if this could 

be provided by 20 October 2021. I would also be grateful if you would meet with me at your earliest 

convenience to discuss the above issues. 

 

I look forward to your response. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Sian Berry AM 

Chair of the Housing Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 79



 

 

 

Appendix A: London Assembly Housing Committee recommendations to the 
Government on retrofitting London’s homes 

1. London should get its fair share of all retrofit spending, particularly ECO funding, 

or sufficient powers to raise finance itself. The Government should also outline 

what proportion of the Shared Prosperity Fund London will receive and ensure that 

this, at the very least, matches what Londoners pay for energy.  

 

2. The Government should consider implementing multi-year, user-friendly funding 

schemes. This would increase sector and homeowner confidence and give 

contractors and providers longer-term certainty on delivery of programmes.  

 

3. The Government should implement its proposal to raise the landlord cost cap to 

£10,000 to increase the extent of works private sector landlords are undertaking to 

meet mandatory minimum energy efficiency standards.  

 

4. The new Decent Homes Standard should mandate minimum energy efficiency 

standards, with a view to achieving net zero emissions at least in line with the 

Government’s 2050 target. 

 

5. The Government should ensure that cladding remediation does not negatively 

impact on retrofitting work and could potentially enable both areas of work to be 

carried out at the same time. 

 

Appendix B: The London Assembly Housing Committee’s recommendations to the 
Mayor on retrofitting London’s homes. 

1. We recommend: a) that you inform the Committee of the outcome of your mapping 

exercise and commissioned review of planning issues with respect to retrofit and 

solar energy, b) that you advise whether there are any opportunities for you to use 

your planning powers to make it easier to secure consent for installation of solar 

panels across more areas of London and help Londoners to understand the rules 

governing installation of solar panels for listed buildings and conservation areas, 

and c) that this work results in more consistent conservation policies within 

boroughs to be as supportive as possible of retrofit and renewable energy. 

 

2. We recommend that you continue to lobby for ECO spending which better matches 

what Londoners pay for energy and push the Government to ensure that London 

receives fair financial support or sufficient powers to raise this finance itself. 

 

3. We recommend that you bring together private sector landlords and tenants to 

look at barriers to retrofit and the ways in which Government or local government 

action could overcome them. 

 

Page 80



  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

v1/2021 

Subject: Affordable Housing Delivery in London 

Report to: Housing Committee 

Report of:   Executive Director of Secretariat 

Date: 19 October 2021 

Public 
Access: 

This report will be considered in public 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report sets out the background information for a discussion with invited guests on the findings 

of the Housing Committee’s 2021 Affordable Housing Monitor and the issues arising from the data 

it reveals. It aims to identify the Mayor’s progress in delivering homes under the Affordable Homes 

Programme 2016-23 and will look ahead to the Affordable Homes Programme 2021-26. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 

guests and the subsequent discussion; and 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output from the discussion. 

3. Background 

3.1 In 2016, the Mayor received £4.8 billion in Government funding to deliver at least 116,000 

affordable homes by March 2022. This was extended by one year (March 2023) in 2020 due to the 

impact of the coronavirus pandemic on housing delivery in London. Some of these homes are for 

rent, some are for part-sale part-rent, and some are supported housing.  

  

Page 81

Agenda Item 6

http://www.london.gov.uk/


  

3.2 In November 2020, the Mayor received a further £4 billion to fund and deliver an affordable homes 

programme over the period 2021-26, with the expectation that this would support 35,000 

affordable housing starts.1 Allocations from the first bidding round for the programme were 

announced on 31 August 2021, with £3.46 billion being provided to 53 housing providers to deliver 

29,456 homes, 57 per cent of which will be for social rent.2 The remainder will be for shared 

ownership or London Living Rent. 

3.3 The meeting will examine the Mayor’s progress in building affordable homes in 2020-21, looking 

specifically at delivery statistics under the Affordable Homes Programme 2016-23 and gaps in data 

that have been identified by the Committee. Members will also have an opportunity to question the 

Mayor’s team on the Affordable Homes Programme 2021-26 and to look at the impact that the 

coronavirus pandemic and Brexit have had on housebuilding in London and whether the delivery of 

affordable housing has been affected by cladding remediation work.  

3.4 Questions to the Mayor’s team will also examine broader housing challenges in London that have 

been driven by a lack of suitable and affordable housing, including homelessness, refugees and 

Gypsy and Traveller communities.  

4. Issues for Consideration  

4.1 The Committee may wish to consider: 

 The annual delivery profile for the Affordable Homes Programme 2016-23 and 2021-26; 

 The short and long-term impact of COVID-19 and Brexit on the supply of affordable housing; 

 How the Mayor is addressing these challenges to mitigate the impact on the housing market; 

 What impact fire safety costs are having on councils and associations to deliver affordable 

homes; 

 What actions could be taken to improve data collection on housing in London; 

 Accommodation for Afghan refugees in London; 

 What assessment the Mayor has made for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation needs in 

London; and 

 Updates on whether London has found long-term homes for people housed under the 

‘Everyone In’ scheme and associated programme.  

4.2 The Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development and guests representing the GLA, 

councils and housing associations have been invited. 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

                                                 

1 MD2707 Homes for Londoners: Affordable Homes Programme 2021-2026 

2 Inside Housing, August 2021 

Page 82

https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/md2707-homes-londoners-affordable-homes-programme-2021-26
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/revealed-gla-names-partners-for-346bn-affordable-housing-programme-72352


  

6. Financial Implications 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None. 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Information 

Contact Officer: Stephanie Griffiths, Senior Policy Adviser 

Telephone: 07783 805 834 

E-mail:  stephanie.griffiths@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 83

mailto:stephanie.griffiths@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84



  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

v1/2021 

Subject: Housing Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Housing Committee 

Report of:   Executive Director of Secretariat 

Date: 19 October 2021 

Public 
Access: 

This report will be considered in public 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report sets out the work programme for the Housing Committee for October to March of the 

2021/22 Assembly year. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 That the Committee notes its work programme, and the additional activity undertaken 

since its last meeting, namely the informal meeting with the Deputy Mayor for Housing 

and Residential Development. 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the Committee’s letters to the Chair of the Justice Committee 

and to the Mayor in regards to housing for women leaving prison including the analysis of 

responses from London Local Authorities. 

3. Background 

3.1 The Committee’s work programme is intended to enable the Committee to effectively fulfil its role in 

holding the Mayor to account: to examine and report on matters relating to housing in London and 

to lead on scrutiny of the Mayor’s Housing Strategy. 

3.2 The Committee’s work involves a range of activities, including formal and informal meetings with the 

Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development and other stakeholders, site visits, written 

consultations and round table meetings.  

  

Page 85

Agenda Item 7

http://www.london.gov.uk/


  

4. Issues for Consideration  

4.1 The Committee’s meeting schedule was formally approved by the London Assembly at the  

Mayor’s Question Time meeting on 15 July 2021. 

Schedule of Meetings 

Meeting Date Meeting Topic 

19 October 2021 The Mayor’s delivery of affordable housing in London. 

24 November 2021 Interaction between housing costs and financial health 

9 December 2021 Interaction between housing costs and financial health 

18 January 2022 To be determined 

23 February 2022 To be determined 

22 March 2022 To be determined 

 

4.2 On 18 February 2021, the Police and Crime Committee and the Housing Committee met with the 

Safe Homes for Women Leaving Prison Initiative to discuss the challenges faced by women leaving 

prison with nowhere safe to go and the impact of a lack of secure housing on successful 

rehabilitation.  Following the informal meeting, the former Chair of the Housing Committee wrote to 

local authorities to gather information on this issue.   

4.3 The Committee is asked to delegate authority to the Chair to agree letters to the Mayor and to the 

Chair of the Justice Committee in relation to housing for women leaving prison, and to publish the 

analysis of the local authorities’ responses.  

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

6. Financial Implications 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

Page 86



  

Contact Information 

Contact Officer: Stephanie Griffiths, Senior Policy Adviser 

Telephone: 07783805834 

E-mail:  stephanie.griffiths@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 87

mailto:stephanie.griffiths@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 88


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes Appendix 1 Transcript Housing Committee 20072021

	4 Summary List of Actions
	Appendix 1 Letter from Bradley Tulley RICS
	Appendix 2 EU Exit WG letter Housing Committee Chair
	Appendix 3 Response on S21 Evictions
	Appendix 4 Letter to Tom Copley and Jules Pipe - data
	Appendix 5 Response from Tom Copley and Jules Pipe
	Appendix 6 Response from Shirley Rodrigues

	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	Letter to Mayor - retrofit
	Letter to Secretary of State - retrofit

	6 Affordable Housing Delivery in London
	7 Housing Committee Work Programme

